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Dr Kee Kirk Chin, 53, a Singaporean, was appointed to the Board on 15th February 2000, as the Managing Director of 
the Company on 3rd March 2000 and became Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on 19th May 2010. He obtained a 
Bachelor in Arts with Honours in 1985, a Bachelor of Medicine & Bachelor of Surgery in 1987 and a Master of Arts in 
1989 from University of Cambridge, UK and a Master of Business Administration (“MBA”) with distinction in 1993 from 
University of Hull, UK. He is a registered Medical Practitioner with the Singapore Medical Council and the General 
Medical Council, UK. He began his career as a House Officer with National University Hospital, later joining United 
MediCorp Pte Ltd as Director of Business Development in 1990, becoming its Chief Executive Officer in 1996. United 
MediCorp had interests in several healthcare companies in six Asian countries involved in pharmaceuticals, clinical 
equipment, hospital support services and private hospitals. He was appointed to the Board of Singapore Corporation 
of Rehabilitative Enterprises on 4th April 2010.
 
He is the son of Kee Tah Peng. He is deemed to be a substantial shareholder of the Company as he is a substantial 
shareholder and Director of Apex Pharmacy Holdings Sdn Bhd, which holds 40.5% equity in the Company. He does not 
have any other family relationships with any other director and/or major shareholder of the Group, nor any personal 
interest in any business arrangement involving the Company. He attended all of the four Board Meetings held in the 
financial year ended 31st December 2014 and has had no convictions for any offences within the past 10 years. 

Dr Kee Kirk Chin
Chairman and CEO

Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng, 84, a Singaporean, was appointed to the Board on 15th February 2000 and as Executive 
Chairman of the Company on 3rd March 2000. He became Non-executive Chairman of the Company on 1st January 
2003 and retired as Chairman on 19th May 2010. He graduated with a Pharmaceutical Chemist Certificate issued by 
the Pharmacy Board of New South Wales, Australia from University of Sydney, Australia in 1958. He started his career 
as a pharmacist with Federal Dispensary, Singapore, a pharmaceutical retailer and wholesaler. In 1962, he left to 
establish Apex Pharmacy Sdn Bhd and Xepa-Soul Pattinson (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd in Melaka, eventually becoming the 
Group Managing Director. 

He is the father of Dr Kee Kirk Chin. He is deemed to be a substantial shareholder of the Company as he is a substantial 
shareholder and director of Apex Pharmacy Holdings Sdn Bhd, which holds 40.5% equity in the Company. He does not 
have any other family relationships with any other director and/or major shareholder of the Group, nor any personal 
interest in any business arrangement involving the Company. He attended all of the four Board Meetings held in the 
financial year ended 31st December 2014. He has had no convictions for any offences within the past 10 years.
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Robert Dobson Millner
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Leong Khai Cheong
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Robert Dobson Millner, 64, an Australian, was appointed as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company 
on 23rd February 2000. He is currently Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and was appointed as a member of 
the Nomination Committee on 26th February 2014. He was a farmer and grazier prior to joining the Board of Washington 
H Soul Pattinson & Co Limited (“WHSP”) in 1984, a company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange with principal 
activities in properties, coal mining, bulk handling, manufacturing, wholesaling and retailing of pharmaceutical 
products, and reconstitution and extrusion of polyethylene.  He was appointed Deputy Chairman of WHSP in 1997, 
becoming its Chairman in 1998. He is also the Chairman of Brickworks Limited, Milton Corporation Limited, New 
Hope Corporation Limited, and Director on the Boards of Australian Pharmaceutical Industries Limited and TPG 
Telecom, all of which are companies listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. He is a member of the Institute of 
Company Directors, New South Wales, Australia and a fellow of the Australian Institute of Directors.

He is the Chairman of WHSP, which holds 30.3% equity in the Company. He does not have any family relationship with 
any other director and/or major shareholder of the Group, nor any personal interest in any business arrangement 
involving the Company. He attended all of the four Board Meetings held in the financial year ended 31st December 
2014 and has had no convictions for any offences within the past 10 years.

Leong Khai Cheong, 63, a Malaysian, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 
18th February 2000 and as Senior Independent Non-Executive Director on 24th August 2005. He is the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees. He is a Fellow of the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK, a Certified Public Accountant, Singapore, as well as a 
member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.  He holds associate membership of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He held various senior 
positions in George Kent (M) Bhd and United Engineers Limited, which are companies listed on the Stock Exchanges 
of Malaysia and Singapore respectively.  He is currently a Director of a private Malaysian company involved in the 
manufacture and assembly of engineering and other equipment and provision of engineering services for the 
water industries.

He does not have any family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of the Group, nor any personal 
interest in any business arrangement involving the Company. He attended all of the four Board Meetings held in the 
financial year ended 31st December 2014. He has had no convictions for any offences within the past 10 years.



Annual report 2014                 25

directors’ 
information

(Cont’d)

Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong
Independent Non-Executive Director

Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong, 63, a Singaporean, was appointed as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
of the Company on 15th February 2000. He was re-designated as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 25th 
February 2015. He graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering with Honours from University of Auckland, New 
Zealand in 1974 under a Colombo Plan Scholarship. He worked in various technical and management positions in 
the oil and gas sector with several multinational corporations before joining United Engineers Limited (“UEL”) as 
Chief Operating Officer and later, Group Managing Director and Director of UEL, a company listed on the Singapore 
Stock Exchange, whose principal activities are in the construction and engineering of buildings, properties and 
environmental projects. He retired in January 2014 as CEO and from the UEL Board in April 2014. On 29th January 
2015, he was appointed as an independent director of Singapore listed UE E&C Ltd.

He was a director of Apex Pharmacy Holdings Sdn Bhd, which holds 40.5% equity in the Company until 18th March 
2014. Save as disclosed above, he does not have any other family relationships with any director and/or major 
shareholder of the Group, nor any personal interest in any business arrangement involving the Company. He 
attended three out of the four Board Meetings held in the financial year ended 31st December 2014 and has had no 
convictions for any offences within the past 10 years.

Heng Su-Ling Mae
Independent Non-Executive Director

Heng Su-Ling Mae, 44, a Singaporean, was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company 
on 20th November 2008. She is a Certified Public Accountant and a member of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees. She was appointed as Chairman of Nomination Committee on 26th February 2014. She graduated 
with a Bachelor of Accountancy from Nanyang Technological University, Singapore in 1991 and is a Chartered 
Accountant with the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (ISCA). She has over 16 years of experience 
in an audit, corporate finance and business advisory environment with the largest accounting firm in Singapore, 
Ernst and Young. In senior management positions, her audit portfolio included several Singapore publicly listed 
companies, multinational companies and private companies of various sizes and industries operating globally. 
She was appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director of Ossia International Ltd on 27th April 2010 and also 
Chairman of its Remuneration Committee. She was also appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director and 
Chairman of the Audit Committee of Asiatravel.com Holdings Limited on 27th April 2012. Both companies are 
listed on the Singapore Exchange.

She does not have any family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of the Group, nor any 
personal interest in any business arrangement involving the Company. She attended all of the four Board Meetings 
held in the financial year ended 31st December 2014 and has had no convictions for any offences within the past 
10 years.



26	 Apex healthcare berhad (473108-T)

directors’ 
information
(Cont’d)

Tong Yew Sum, 72, a Malaysian, was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 
21st May 2014. He is member of the Audit Committee. He graduated with a Bachelor of Pharmacy from the 
University of Singapore in 1964, joining the Apex Pharmacy Group in 1965 as a pharmacist. He held various senior 
positions in the Group, involving primarily in retail, marketing and distribution activities, and retiring in 2005. He 
was the Executive Director of Malaysian Organisation of Pharmaceutical Industries from 2007 to 2014 and also its 
past President. He was formerly an adjunct lecturer at the Pharmacy Faculty of the University of Malaya, council 
member of the Malaysian Pharmaceutical Society and a current member of the Pharmacy Board of Malaysia.

He does not have any family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of the Group, nor any 
personal interest in any business arrangement involving the Company. He attended all three Board Meetings 
held in the financial year ended 31st December2014 since his date of appointment and has had no convictions for 
any offences within the past 10 years.

Tong Yew Sum
Independent Non-Executive Director
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INTRODUCTION

The Company subscribes to the ideals of good Corporate 
Governance and fair dealing in all its activities with 
a view to increase shareholders' value. It recognises 
that a strong governance framework is necessary for 
the continuous strengthening of self-discipline and the 
development of a good corporate governance culture.

Since the introduction of the first Malaysian Code on 
Corporate Governance (‘Code’) in 2000, and its revision in 
2007, the Company has taken conscious steps and made 
efforts to adopt the principles and recommendations 
of the Code in its operations. With the launch of the 
revamped Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 
2012, it has again undertaken a review of its corporate 
governance framework and initiated changes to embrace 
the eight principles and twenty six recommendations.

This statement thus describes the position of the 
Company in regard to each of the eight principles and 
twenty six recommendations made in the latest Code, 
noting and explaining exceptions as they arise.

APPLICATION OF PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Principle 1: Establish Clear Roles and Responsibilities

1.1	 The board should establish clear functions 
reserved for the board and those delegated to 
management.

	 The Board of Directors is elected by the 
shareholders and is the highest decision-making 
body of the Company other than a general meeting 
of the shareholders themselves.

	 The Board has established a Board Charter. Among 
the matters set out in the Charter are the role and 
responsibilities of the Board and Chief Executive 
Officer (“CEO”), setting of corporate objectives, 
establishment of performance targets and long-
term goals of the Company to be met by the CEO. The 
Charter also specifies matters reserved exclusively 
for Board approval. The Board periodically reviews 
the content of its Charter in order to ensure the 
needs of the Company are consistently met. 

1.2	 The board should establish clear roles and 

responsibilities in discharging its fiduciary and 
leadership functions.

	 The Code divides these into topics which are 
addressed individually as follows:

•	 Reviewing and adopting a strategic plan for 
the company

	 The Board considers, and after discussion and 
amendment as required, approves strategic 
multi-year plan proposed by management. 
Specifically, the Board reviews and challenges 
management’s proposal on strategic business 
plans for each business unit annually or more 
frequently should the need arises.

•	 Overseeing the conduct of the company’s 
business

	 The Board Charter explicitly specifies that the 
Board’s role includes oversight and appraisal 
of the Company’s strategies and policies and 
monitoring management’s implementation of

	 them. The Board meets quarterly and 
tracks targets approved by the Board in the 
furtherance of strategic and other plans. 
Monthly management reports are made 
available for the perusal of Board members.

•	 Identifying principal risks and ensuring 
the implementation of appropriate internal 
controls and mitigation measures

	 Risk Assessment is carried out annually by 
Senior Management in consultation with the 
Internal Auditors to identify key risks and 
devise measures to address these risks. The 
Risk Assessment report is then reviewed by the 
Audit Committee and finally by the Board itself 
before adoption.

	 The monitoring of risks is carried out by 
Management at their respective monthly 
management meetings. Any variation and 
developments are reported to the CEO and 
Financial Controller (“FC”) and subsequently to 
the Audit Committee on a periodic basis.

•	 Succession planning
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	 Succession planning is provided for in 
both the Board Charter and the Terms of 
Reference of the Nomination Committee. A 
succession plan has been drawn up for three 
levels of Senior Management in all the Group’s 
operating subsidiaries and is reviewed by the 
Board periodically.

•	 Overseeing the development and 
implementation of a shareholder 
communications policy for the company

	 The Board values dialogue with both 
institutional and individual shareholders, and 
has made it a Company Policy to recognise 
that timely and equal dissemination of 
relevant information should be made 
to all shareholders and stakeholders. 
Management meets with shareholders and 
investment analysts from time to time to 
explain the Group’s strategy, performance and 
major developments, and receive feedback. 
Shareholders’ concerns may be directed 
to the Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director, via the Company Secretaries.

	 The Board welcomes shareholders' participation 
at the Annual General Meeting, which is 
the principal forum for dialogue with the 
shareholders, and is an opportunity for the 
Board to respond directly to shareholders 
queries and to undertake to provide sufficient 
clarification on issues and concerns raised by 
shareholders. Directors are always pleased to 
interact with the shareholders during and after 
a general meeting.

	 The Company’s website has contact details for 
shareholders’ comments, which are reviewed 
by the Senior Independent Director and CEO.

•	 Reviewing the adequacy and the integrity of 
the management information and internal 
controls system of the company

	 The Board acknowledges the importance of 
establishing and maintaining a sound system 
of internal controls, which provides reasonable 
assurance in ensuring the effectiveness and 
efficiency of operations and safeguards the 
assets and interests in compliance with laws 
and regulations as well as with internal financial 
administrative procedures and guidelines.

	 The internal controls comprising financial, 
organisational, operational and compliance 
controls are devised to safeguard shareholders’ 
investment and the Group’s assets. The Board 
recognises that such systems can provide only 
a reasonable level of, rather than absolute, 
assurance against misstatement or loss within 
the practical constraints of operating a going 
concern. Improvement and refinement of 
internal control systems, and their adaptation 
to changing requirements, is an ongoing 
process.

	 The Internal Audit function has been 
outsourced to an external service provider, 
Audex Governance Sdn Bhd. The Internal 
Auditors meet with the Audit Committee 
several times a year, including meetings where 
management is not present. The Internal and 
External Auditors are unrelated parties.

	 Further information may be found in the 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control published annually in the Group’s 
Annual Report.

1.3	 The board should formalise ethical standards 
through a code of conduct and ensure its 
compliance.

	 The Founding Values of the Apex Healthcare Group 
are “Service, Quality and Integrity” and these have 
been enshrined in the Group’s Code of Conduct.

	 Individual operating subsidiaries have more 
detailed Employee Handbooks which specify 
detailed obligations of employees. These are 
contractual obligations and are drawn up to meet 
the specific needs of the businesses and the 
legal requirements of the countries in which the 
businesses are based.

	 The Company has put in place a whistle-blowing 
policy and a summary of the Code of Conduct 
is available at the Company’s website: www.
apexpharmacy.com.

1.4	 The board should ensure that the company’s 
strategies promote sustainability.

	 The Board reviews operational practices which 
impact on sustainability of environment, 
governance and social aspects of its business 
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on a regular basis. In particular, the Company 
supports social initiatives which are in line 
with the philosophical underpinnings of its 
business viz. the Young and the Old, and Healthy 
Development of the Body. This has translated in 
practice into tangible support for youth sporting 
endeavours and projects which give assistance to 
the elderly. The Group’s sustainability endeavours 
are published on the Group’s website and annual 
reports.

1.5	 The board should have procedures to allow its 
members access to information and advice.

	 Directors have comprehensive and timely access 
to information concerning the Company and the 
Group. Notice is given of Board meetings, and board 
papers with supporting documents, presentations 
and materials detailing Group performance and 
operational, financial and corporate matters, are 
circulated to Directors, normally at least seven 
days in advance of Board meetings to ensure that 
Directors have sufficient time to study them and be 
prepared for discussion. Comprehensive minutes 
of Board meetings are maintained and circulated 
to Directors. Formal channels are usefully 
augmented and supplemented by regular informal 
dialogue between non-executive members of the 
Board and management on matters relating to 
the Company’s business. Directors are entitled to 
request and receive supplementary information in 
order to be fully briefed before the meeting.

	 Directors have access to the advice and services 
of the Company Secretaries and the Senior 
Management staff in the Group, and are entitled 
to seek independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense through an agreed procedure 
in the proper discharge of their duties as spelled 
out in the Board’s Charter.

1.6	 The board should ensure it is supported by 
a suitably qualified and competent company 
secretary.

	 It is the Board’s responsibility to retain the services 
of a competent Company Secretary. In addition to 
the internal Company Secretary, currently the 
Group’s FC, the Board has also appointed a second 
external Company Secretary in order to deepen 
availability of resources and experience. The 
Board is assisted by the Nomination Committee in 

the appointment and assessment of the Company 
Secretary, as specified in that committee’s Terms 
of Reference.

1.7	 The board should formalise, periodically review 
and make public its board charter.

	 The Board Charter was formalised in November 
2012 and will be reviewed from time to time to 
ensure that it remains current and relevant. The 
Board Charter is displayed on the Company’s 
website: www.apexpharmacy.com.

Principle 2: Strengthen Composition

2.1	 The board should establish a Nomination 
Committee which should comprise exclusively of 
non-executive directors, a majority of whom must 
be independent.

	 The Nomination Committee was established in 
2001 and comprises Non-Executive Directors, 
a majority of whom are Independent Directors. 
The responsibility of the Nomination Committee 
in overseeing the selection and assessment of 
directors is stipulated in its Terms of Reference, 
which is included in the Annual Report.

	 The Chairman of the Nomination Committee 
is a Non-Executive Director and not the Senior 
Independent Director as recommended by the 
Code. As the Senior Independent Director is 
already the Chairman of the Audit Committee, the 
Board believes that this arrangement allows for 
more equitable sharing of the work of the Directors 
and avoids disproportionate concentration of 
responsibilities and duties on a single director.

2.2	 The Nomination Committee should develop, 
maintain and review the criteria to be used in the 
recruitment process and annual assessment of 
directors.

	 The Nomination Committee’s Terms of Reference 
specify in some detail the duties and functions of 
the committee, which relate to the recruitment of 
Directors and the criteria used in their selection, 
taking into account also the overall effectiveness 
of the Board.

	 The Board embraces diversity amongst its 
members and has ensured a good representation of 



30	 Apex healthcare berhad (473108-T)

the relevant skills and experience for the discharge 
of its duties. Its policy towards boardroom diversity 
is above all, to be non-discriminatory with regards 
to gender, ethnicity, age, race or religion, and 
only considering relevant qualifications, ability 
and commitment when proposing candidates for 
shareholders’ approval.

	 The Board considers its current size and 
composition as ideal. Further changes to the 
gender ratio of the directors will be guided by the 
policy stated above. Currently, the Board has a 
female Independent Non-Executive Director, Ms 
Heng Su-Ling Mae who has been as a Director 
since 2008, well before the promulgation of the 
2012 Code.

2.3	 The board should establish formal and transparent 
remuneration policies and procedures to attract 
and retain directors.

	 The Remuneration Committee was established 
in 2001 and the task of establishing formal and 
transparent remuneration policies for Directors is 
specified in its Term of Reference, which has also 
been regularly published in the Group’s Annual 
Report. The Remuneration Committee reviews 
the remuneration of Directors at least once 
annually, making proposals for change where 
required, before seeking Board's endorsement 
and subsequent shareholders’ approval where 
applicable.

Principle 3: Reinforce Independence

3.1	 The board should undertake an assessment of its 
independent directors annually.

	 The Board has adopted the legal and regulatory 
definition of Independent Directors as specified 
in the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad. The Nomination Committee is 
specifically tasked to assess the independence of 
Independent Directors upon admission, annually 
and when any new interest or relationship develops. 
The Board will confirm that such assessment 
has been conducted in the annual report and in 
any notice convening a general meeting for the 
appointment and re-appointment of Independent 
Directors.

3.2	 The tenure of an independent director should not 

exceed a cumulative term of nine years. Upon 
completion of the nine years, an independent 
director may continue to serve on the board 
subject to the director’s re-designation as a non-
independent director.

	 This is addressed under point 3.3.

3.3	 The board must justify in the notice convening 
the annual general meeting and submit for 
shareholders’ approval the retention of all 
independent directors who have served the 
company for an aggregate of more than nine years 
at every annual general meeting.

	 All Independent Directors who have served the 
Company for an aggregate of more than nine 
years will submit themselves for retention at every 
Annual General Meeting. The recommendation by 
the Board for retention of any such Independent 
Directors is based on their independence, 
incumbent knowledge and contributions to the 
Company.

3.4	 The positions of chairman and CEO should be held 
by different individuals, and the chairman must 
be a non-executive member of the board.

	 The functions of Chairman and CEO are currently 
combined. The Board is of the opinion that no single 
person has excessive powers of decision as:

•	 Board decisions are dependent on the 
consensus of the Directors, who take an active 
interest in all major and strategic decisions of 
the Group;

•	 four of the seven Board members are 
independent, and supply a strong independent 
element to the decision-making process;

•	 the Senior Independent Director avails himself 
to address shareholders’ concerns and is a 
useful counterbalance in decision-making;

•	 no single shareholder controls an absolute 
majority of the voting shares, and while Non-
Independent Directors enjoy a good degree 
of consensus as to the best interests of the 
Company, agreement is not regarded as a 
foregone conclusion; and 

•	 at all meetings of the Board of Directors, the 
Board elects one of its members, other than the 
Chairman, to be the Chairman of the meeting, 
thus avoiding any unfettered power of decision-

corporate governance
statement 
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making in any one individual.

3.5	 The board must comprise a majority of 
independent directors where the chairman of 
the board is not an independent director.

	 The Board comprises the CEO/Chairman, two Non-
Independent Non-Executive Directors and four 
Independent Directors. As the Chairman is not 
an Independent Director, the Board comprises a 
majority of Independent Directors.

Principle 4: Foster Commitment

4.1	 The board should set out expectations on time 
commitment for its members and protocols for 
accepting new directorships.

	 All Directors are expected to devote sufficient time 
to carry out their responsibilities and are required 
to notify the Chairman before accepting any new 
directorships.

4.2	 The board should ensure its members have 
access to appropriate continuing education 
programmes.

	 In addition to continuing education which the 
Directors undertake in the course of their activities 
outside the Company, the Company from time to 
time arranges appropriate and relevant courses 
and talks for Directors in-house, details of which 
are disclosed in the report of the Nomination 
Committee. The requirement to undertake 
continuing education is built into the Board Charter 
and the training undertaken by the Directors are 
reviewed by the Nomination Committee annually.

Principle 5: Uphold Integrity in Financial Reporting

5.1	 The Audit Committee should ensure financial 
statements comply with applicable financial 
reporting standards.

	 The requirement is built into the Terms of 
Reference of the Audit Committee, which states 
particularly that the Committee should review 
financial statements focusing particularly on, 
among other things, “compliance with accounting 
standards and other legal requirements”.

5.2	 The Audit Committee should have policies 

and procedures to assess the suitability and 
independence of external auditors.

	 The Audit Committee is delegated the task of 
assessing whether the External Auditors are 
suitable for reappointment, of which competence 
and independence are key considerations. This is 
spelt out in the Terms of Reference of the Audit 
Committee.

Principle 6: Recognise and Manage Risk

6.1	 The board should establish a sound framework to 
manage risks.

	 The Board affirms its overall responsibility for 
the Group’s risk management, and for reviewing 
the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s risk 
management framework which encompasses all 
subsidiaries of the Group.

6.2	 The board should establish an internal audit 
function which reports directly to the audit 
committee.

	 The Company outsources the internal audit 
function as being currently the most cost effective 
means of implementing an internal audit function. 
The provider of internal audit services is Audex 
Governance Sdn Bhd, which reports directly to 
the Audit Committee as specified by the Terms of 
Reference of that Committee.

Principle 7: Ensure Timely and High Quality Disclosure

7.1	 The board should ensure the company has 
appropriate corporate disclosure policies and 
procedures.

	 The Board ensures that the Company complies 
with all applicable corporate disclosure laws and 
regulations.

7.2	 The board should encourage the company to 
leverage on information technology for effective 
dissemination of information.

	 The Board supports the use of information 
technology for the effective dissemination of 
information. The Company has established 
a website at www.apexpharmacy.com which 
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has served as a useful reference source of 
information to many shareholders, investment 
analysts, business partners and other 
stakeholders. In addition to publishing financial 
results, annual reports and business information, 
the website has dedicated Corporate Governance 
sections which include the Board Charter, Code 
of Conduct and Whistle-Blowing Policy.

Principle 8: Strengthen Relationship between 
Company and Shareholders

8.1	 The board should take reasonable steps 
to encourage shareholder participation at 
general meetings.

	 The Board values the participation of 
shareholders at General Meetings and 
recognises their contributions as valuable 
feedback for the conduct of the Group’s 
businesses. Where practical, the Board will 
serve notices for meetings earlier than the 
minimum notice period. The Annual General 
Meeting of the Company has been held in the 
second half of May at the same venue every year 
since it became a listed company.

8.2	 The board should encourage poll voting.

	 The Board is of the opinion that the number of 
shareholders and level of attendance at general 
meetings do not warrant the introduction of poll 
voting for all resolutions. However, the Board 
notes that poll voting may be mandated by the 
regulators for resolutions relating to defined 
situations, and in such circumstances, poll 
voting will be carried out. This apart, the Chair 
may also call for poll voting for other substantive 
resolutions.

8.3	 The board should promote effective 
communication and proactive engagements with 
shareholders.

	 The Board values dialogue with both institutional 
and individual investors, and recognises that timely 
and equal dissemination of relevant information 
should be made to these groups without favouring 
one group over another.

	 Management meets with shareholders and 
investment analysts from time to time to explain 
the group’s strategy, performance and major 
developments, and to receive feedback. Board 
members and Senior Management are very 
pleased to interact and converse with shareholders 
at general meetings and other events within the 
bounds of propriety.

	 Shareholders’ concerns may be directed to the 
Senior Independent Director, via the Company 
Secretaries.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. 	N on-Audit Fees

	 The amount of non-audit fees paid and payable to 
the External Auditors, Ernst & Young, by the Group 
for the financial year ended 31st December 2014 
amounted to RM68,520.

2. 	M aterial Contracts

	 There were no material contracts of Apex 
Healthcare Berhad and its subsidiaries involving 
any of its Directors and major shareholders.

3. 	 Recurrent Related Party Transactions

	 There were no recurrent related party transactions 
during the financial year.

4. 	S anctions

	 During the financial year, there were no sanctions 
and/or penalties imposed on the Company and 
its subsidiaries, Directors or Management by the 
relevant regulatory bodies.

5. 	 Directors’ Responsibility for Preparing The 
Financial Statements

	 The Directors are required by the Companies 
Act 1965 to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year which have been made out 
in accordance with the applicable approved 
accounting standards and give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and Company 
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at the end of the financial year and of the results 
and cashflows of the Group and Company for the 
financial year.

	 In preparing the financial statements, the Directors 
have:

•	 Selected suitable accounting policies and 
applied them consistently;

•	 Made judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

•	 Ensured that all applicable financial reporting 
standards have been followed; and

•	 Prepared financial statements on the going 
concern basis as the Directors have a 
reasonable expectation, having made enquiries 
that the Group and the Company have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. The Directors have 
responsibility for ensuring that the Company 
keeps accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of 
the Group and Company and which enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 1965. The Directors 
have overall responsibilities for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to 
safeguard the assets of the Group to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

6.	O ptions or Convertible Securities

	 The Company did not issue any options or convertible 
securities in respect of the financial year ended 31st 
December 2014.

7.	 Depository Receipt (“DR”) Programme

	 During the financial year ended 31st December 
2014, the Company did not sponsor any DR 
programme.

8.	V ariation in Results

	 There was no profit estimate, forecast or projection 
issued by the Company and its subsidiaries during 
the financial year ended 31st December 2014.

9.	P rofit Guarantee

	 The Company did not make any arrangement during 
the financial year which requires profit guarantee.

10.	 Contracts Relating to Loans

	 There were no contracts relating to loans by 
the Company involved Directors’ and Major 
Shareholders’ interests.

11.	U tilisation of Proceeds

	 The Company did not implement any fund raising 
exercise during the financial year.
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INTRODUCTION 

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Apex Healthcare 
Berhad (“AHB” or “the Group”) is pleased to present its 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, 
which has been prepared pursuant to paragraph 15.26 (b) 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) 
Main Market Listing Requirements and as guided 
by the Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers 
(“the Guidelines”), in this annual report. This statement 
outlines the nature and state of the risk management 
and internal controls of the Group during the financial 
year under review and up to the date of approval of this 
statement by the Board.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY 

The Board affirms its overall responsibility for the 
Group’s system of risk management and internal 
control, and for reviewing its adequacy and effectiveness 
to ensure that the Group’s assets and shareholders’ 
interests are safeguarded. The responsibility for 
reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk 
management and internal control system has been 
delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee. 

Due to inherent limitations in any system of risk 
management and internal controls, such system put into 
effect by Management is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate all risks that may impede the achievement of 
the Group’s business objectives. Therefore, such system 
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against any material misstatement or loss.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board acknowledges that the Group’s business 
activities involve some degree of risk and Key 
Management staff and Head of Departments are 
delegated with the responsibility to manage identified 
risks within defined parameters and standards.

During the financial year under review, Management 
with the assistance of external consultants has updated 
the Group’s key risk profiles. The results of the above 
risk management update exercise were presented 
to the Audit Committee on 25th February 2014. Risks 
identified were prioritised in terms of the possibility 

of their occurrence and their impact on the Group’s 
business objectives/goals. This allows Management to 
allocate appropriate resources in the mitigation of such 
risks identified.

The abovementioned practices and initiatives by 
Management serves as the on-going process used to 
identify, evaluate and managed significant risks.

INTERNAL audit function 

The Group’s independent internal audit function is 
outsourced to a professional service firm to assist 
the Board and the Audit Committee in providing an 
independent assessment of the adequacy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system. The 
outsourced Internal Auditors report directly to the Audit 
Committee and the internal audit plans are tabled to the 
Audit Committee for review and approval. 

For the financial year, internal audit reviews were carried 
out in accordance with an internal audit plan approved 
by the Audit Committee. The result from internal audit 
reviews, together with proposed action plans and 
Management’s response are presented to the Audit 
Committee for its review. In addition, the internal audit 
function follows up and reports to the Audit Committee 
if the corrective action plans to address control 
weaknesses have been satisfactorily implemented by 
the Management. 

Based on the internal audit reviews carried out, none 
of the weaknesses noted have resulted in any material 
losses, contingencies or uncertainties that would require 
separate disclosure in this annual report. 

The costs incurred in maintaining the outsourced 
internal audit function for the financial year ended 31st 
December 2014 amounted to RM 97,073.

OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL 

The other key elements of the Group’s system of internal 
control are:

1.	 Control Environment

•	 Policies & Procedures
	 Clearly defined policies and procedures are in 
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place and are undergoing constant improvements 
to ensure that they continue to support the Group’s 
business activities as the Group continues to 
grow.

•	 Organisation Structure & Authorisation 
Procedures

	 The Group maintains a formal organisation 
structure with clear lines of reporting to Board 
Committees and Senior Management including 
defined lines of accountability within which 
senior management operates, such as roles 
and responsibilities, authority limits, review and 
approval procedures, etc.

•	 Annual Budget
	 The Group has a comprehensive budgeting 

system. The annual business plan and budget 
are approved by the Board. Budgetary control is 
in place for every operation of the Group, where 
actual performance is monitored against budgets 
on a quarterly basis to identify and to address 
significant variances.

•	 Human Resource Policy
	 Comprehensive and rigorous guidelines on the 

employment, performance appraisal and training 
program and retention of employees are in place, 
to ensure that the Group has a team of employees 
who are well trained and equipped with all the 
necessary knowledge, skills and abilities to carry 
out their responsibility effectively.

•	 Management Styles
	 The Board relies on the experience of the Chief 

Executive Officer (“CEO”), Chief Operating Officer 
(“COO”), Senior Vice President (“SVP”) and 
Financial Controller (“FC”) and the respective 
business units’ management teams to run and 
manage the operations and businesses of the 
Group in an effective and efficient manner.

	 The CEO, COO, SVP, FC and management adopt a 
“hands on” approach in managing the businesses 
of the Group. This enables the timely identification 
and resolution of any significant issues arising.

•	 Quality Control
	 Strong emphasis is placed on ensuring the 

manufacturing process of its pharmaceutical 
plant adheres strictly to health, safety and 

environmental regulations as required by the 
various authorities. The Board have ensured that 
safety and health regulations, environmental 
controls and all other legislations in connection 
with the industry the Group operates in have been 
complied with during the financial year under 
review.

•	 Succession Planning
	 Succession planning for key management staff 

of the Group is in place and will be reviewed 
periodically. This is to ensure that business 
operations and performance will not be adversely 
affected by the departure of any key personnel.

2.	I nformation and Communication

	 Information critical to meeting Group’s business 
objectives are communicated through established 
reporting lines across the Group. This is to ensure 
that matters that require the Board and Senior 
Management’s attention are highlighted for review, 
deliberation and resolution on a timely basis.

3.	 Review & Monitoring Process

	 The Group’s Management teams carry out monthly 
monitoring and review of the Group’s operations 
and performance, including financial results and 
forecasts for all business operations within the 
Group. In addition to the above, scheduled and ad-hoc 
meetings are held at operational and management 
levels to identify, discuss and resolve business and 
operational issues as and when necessary.

	 The Board monitors the Group’s performance by 
reviewing its quarterly results and operations, and 
examines the announcement to the Bursa Securities. 
These are reviewed by the Audit Committee before 
they are tabled to the Board for approval.

ASSURANCE PROVIDED BY THE GROUP CEO, COO, SVP 
AND FC 

In line with the Guidelines, the Group CEO, COO, SVP 
and FC have provided assurance to the Board that the 
Group’s risk management and internal control systems 
have operated adequately and effectively, in all material 
aspects, to meet the Group’s objectives during the 
financial year under review.
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REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The External Auditors have performed limited 
assurance procedures on this Statement on Risk 
Management and Internal Control pursuant to the 
scope set out in Recommended Practice Guide (“RPG”) 
5 (Revised), Guidance for Auditors on Engagements 
to Report on the Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control included in the Annual Report issued 
by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) for 
inclusion in the Annual Report of the Group for the year 
ended 31st December 2014, and reported to the Board 
that nothing has come to their attention that causes 
them to believe the statement intended to be included 
in the Annual Report is not prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the disclosures required 
by paragraph 41 and 42 of the Guidelines, nor is the 
Statement factually inaccurate.  

RPG 5 does not require the External Auditors to consider 
whether the Directors’ Statement on Risk Management 
and Internal Control covers all risks and controls, or to 
form an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Group’s risk management and internal control system 
including the assessment and opinion by the Directors 
and management thereon. The report from the External 
Auditors was made solely for, and directed solely to the 
Board of Directors in connection with their compliance 
with the listing requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad and for no other purposes or parties. 
The External Auditors do not assume responsibility to 
any person other than the board of directors in respect 
of any aspect of this report.

CONCLUSION

The Board is of the view that the risks faced by the Group 
are within tolerable levels in the context of the business 
environment the Group operates in and the system 
of risk management and internal control that existed 
throughout the year is sound and adequate to safeguard 
the interest of the Group and to facilitate the evolution of 
its businesses.

During the year under review, nothing has come to 
the attention of the Board which would result in any 
material losses, contingencies or uncertainties that 
would require separate disclosure in this Annual Report. 
Notwithstanding this, the Board will continue to ensure 
that the Group’s system of risk management and 

internal control continuously evolve to keep up with its 
dynamic business environment.

The Group’s system of risk management and internal 
control applies principally to the Group and its 
subsidiaries. Associate companies and joint ventures 
have been excluded because the Group does not 
have full management control and/or majority Board 
representation.

The Board has granted its approval on 25th February 
2015 that this Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control be included in the Company’s Annual 
Report 2014. 
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The Audit Committee of Apex Healthcare Berhad is pleased to present the following report for the financial year ended 
31st December 2014.

Composition of Audit Committee and Attendance Record

The Audit Committee currently consists of 3 members, all of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors. The 
Chairman of the Audit Committee is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. Alternate Directors are not 
appointed as members. 
 
The Committee met 5 times during the financial year ended 31st December 2014 and the attendance record is 
tabulated as follows:

Director Position

Attendance

Total
25th

Feb
26th

Mar
20th

May
19th

Aug
17th

Nov
Leong Khai Cheong 
(Chairman of Audit 
Committee)

Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director

     5/5

Dr Ahmad Kamal bin 
Md Alif (Retired at the 
conclusion of 2014 Annual 
General Meeting)

Independent Non-Executive Director    N / A N / A 3/3

Heng Su-Ling Mae Independent Non-Executive Director      5/5
Tong Yew Sum
(Appointed at the 2014 
Annual General Meeting)

Independent Non-Executive Director N / A N / A N / A   2/2

Total Attendance 3/3 3/3 3/3 3/3 3/3

N/A: Not Applicable

Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee

1.	 Constitution

	 The Board has established a Committee of the 
Board to be known as the Audit Committee 
(hereinafter known as the “AC”) with authority 
and duties as specified in these Terms of 
Reference.

2.	M embership of the Committee

2.1 	 The AC shall be appointed by the Board 
from amongst the directors of the Company 
and shall consist of at least 3 members, 
a majority of whom shall be independent 
non-executive directors. A quorum requires 
the majority of members present to be 
independent directors.  

2.2 	 At least one member of the AC must be 
a member of the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants. If there is none, one member 
must either have at least 3 years’ working 
experience and (a) have passed the 
examinations specified in Part 1 of the First 
Schedule of the Accountants Act, 1967, or 
(b) be a member of one of the associations 
of accountants specified in Part II of the 1st 
Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or have 
the following qualifications:-

2.2.1	 a degree/masters/doctorate in 
accounting or finance and at least 3 
years’ post qualification experience in 
accounting or finance; or

2.2.2	 at least 7 years’ experience being a 
chief financial officer of a corporation 
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or having a function of being primarily 
responsible for the management of the 
financial affairs of a corporation.

2.3 	 No alternate director shall be appointed as a 
member of the AC.

2.4 	 The Board of Directors shall review the 
composition, term of office and performance 
of the AC and its members at least once every 
3 years to determine whether the AC and 
its members have carried out their duties in 
accordance with its Terms of Reference.

2.5 	 The members of the AC shall elect a Chairman 
from among their number who shall be an 
independent non-executive director.

2.6 	 If a member of the AC resigns, dies or for any 
other reason ceases to be a member with the 
result that the number of members is reduced 
below 3, the Board of Directors shall, within 3 
months of that event, appoint such number of 
new members as may be required to make up 
the minimum number of 3 members.

2.7 	 The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary 
of the AC.

3.	 Rights of the Audit Committee

3.1 	 The AC shall, wherever necessary and 
reasonable for the performance of its duties, 
in accordance with procedures stipulated by 
the Board of Directors and at the cost of the 
Company:

3.1.1 	 have authority to investigate any matter 
within its terms of reference;

3.1.2 	 have the resources that are required to 
perform its duties;

3.1.3	 have full and unrestricted access to any 
information pertaining to the Company 
and the Group;

3.1.4 	 have direct communication channels 
with the External Auditors and person(s) 
carrying out the internal audit function 
or activity;

3.1.5 	 be able to obtain independent 
professional or other advice and to invite 
outsiders to attend AC meetings where 
necessary; and

3.1.6 	 be able to convene meetings with the 
External Auditors and Internal Auditors, 
without the presence of any employees, 
at least twice a year and whenever 
deemed necessary.

3.2 	 The AC shall take into cognizance in its 
deliberations the Listing Requirements of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and the 
Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 
2012, and any other pertinent regulations and 
laws, as well as revisions which may come into 
force thereafter.

3.3 	 Where the AC is of the view that a matter 
reported by it to the Board has not been 
satisfactorily resolved resulting in a breach of 
the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad, the AC shall report such 
matter to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

4.	 Duties and Functions of the Audit Committee

4.1 	 The AC shall review the following and report 
the same to the Board of Directors:-

4.1.1 	 with the External Auditors, the 
nature and scope of the audit before 
commencement;

4.1.2 	 with the External Auditors, their 
evaluation of the system of risk 
management and internal controls;

4.1.3 	 with the External Auditors, the audit 
reports, management letters and 
management response;

4.1.4 	 the assistance given by the Company’s 
employees and officers to the External 
Auditors;

4.1.5 	 the adequacy of the scope, functions and 
resources of the internal audit function 
and that it has the necessary authority 
to carry out its work;
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4.1.6 	 the internal audit programme, 
processes, the results of the internal 
audit programme, processes or 
investigation undertaken and whether 
or not appropriate action is taken on 
the recommendations of the internal 
audit function;

4.1.7 	 any appraisal or assessment of the 
performance of members of the 
internal audit function;

4.1.8 	 the financial reports at the end of each 
quarter and year end, prior to approval 
by the Board of Directors, focusing 
particularly on:-

•	 changes in or the implementation of 
major accounting policy changes;

•	 the going concern assumption;
•	 significant adjustments arising out 

of audit and unusual events; and
•	 compliance with accounting 

standards and other legal 
requirements.

4.1.9 	 any related party transaction and 
conflict of interest situation that may 
arise within the Company or Group 
including any transaction, procedure 
or course of conduct that raises 
questions of management integrity;

4.1.10 	 any letter of resignation from the 
External Auditors; and

4.1.11 	 whether there is reason (supported by 
grounds) to believe that the External 
Auditors is not suitable for re-
appointment. 

4.2 	 The AC shall review any matters concerning 
the appointment and dismissal of both the 
Internal and External Auditors, their audit fees 
and render its recommendations accordingly to 
the Board of Directors.

4.3	 The AC shall evaluate and assess the 
performance of External Auditors, including 
their independence.

4.4 	 The AC shall approve any appointment or 

termination of senior staff members of the 
internal audit function; take cognizance of 
resignations of internal audit staff and provide 
resigning staff member an opportunity to 
submit reasons for resigning or if the internal 
audit function is outsourced, then the AC 
shall evaluate and assess the performance 
of outsourced Internal Auditors, including 
their independence.

4.5 	 The AC shall consider the major findings of 
internal investigations and management’s 
response.

4.6 	 The AC shall verify that the allocation of 
options pursuant to the Apex Healthcare 
Berhad Employee Share Option Scheme, 
where any such Scheme is in operation, is 
in compliance with criteria that have been 
disclosed to employees as required under 
the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad.

4.7 	 The AC functions also as a Risk Management 
Committee. Accordingly, the head of Internal 
Audit reports directly to the AC. For 
administrative and operational matters, the 
Internal Auditors will liaise with either the 
Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) or Financial 
Controller (“FC”).

4.8 	 The Chairman of the AC should engage on a 
continuous basis with senior management in 
order to be kept informed of matters affecting 
the Company or Group.

4.9 	 The AC shall conduct meetings independently 
and separately from time to time with Internal 
and External Auditors; 

4.10	 The AC shall conduct any other duties as may 
be assigned by the Board of Directors from 
time to time.

5.	A ttendance at Meetings

5.1 	 The CEO, FC, the key representatives of the 
External and Internal Auditors shall normally 
attend meetings.

5.2 	 Other Board members and employees may also 
attend AC meetings only at the AC’s invitation, 
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specific to the relevant meeting.

6.	P rocedure of Audit Committee

6.1 	 The AC shall regulate its own procedure, in 
particular:

•	 the calling of meetings;
•	 the notice to be given of such meetings;
•	 the voting and proceedings of such 

meetings;
•	 the keeping of minutes; and
•	 the custody, production and inspection of 

such minutes.

6.2 	 The AC shall meet at least 4 times a year. 
The AC shall meet with the External Auditors, 
without the presence of any employee, at 
least twice a year. The External Auditors may 
request a meeting if they consider that one is 
necessary.

6.3 	 The Secretary shall circulate the minutes of 
meetings of the AC to all members of the Board 
of Directors.

6.4 	 The AC shall prepare a report to the Board 
that provides details of the activities of the AC, 
number of AC meetings held in a year, details 
of attendance of directors at such meetings 
and details of relevant training attended by 
each director for inclusion in the Company’s 
Annual Report.

Activities of the Audit Committee

During the financial year ended 31st December 2014, 
the AC in the discharge of its duties and functions 
carried out the following activities:

•	 Reviewed the Report of the External Auditors, Ernst 
& Young ("EY") to the AC;

•	 Reviewed the assistance provided by Management 
to the External Auditors and Internal Auditors;

•	 Reviewed reports of the Internal Auditors on 
Principal Risks Assessment and Management for 
the Company and Group;

•	 Reviewed the Internal Audit report on Procurement 
(Property, Plant & Equipment and Raw Materials) 
and Inventory Distribution of Abio Orthopaedics Sdn 

Bhd (“AO”);
•	 Reviewed the Internal Audit report on Sales and 

Marketing and Inventory Distribution processes for 
Melaka branch of Apex Pharmacy Marketing Sdn 
Bhd (“APM”);

•	 Reviewed the Internal Audit report on Financial 
Statement Close Process and Credit Control and 
Collection Management of Apex Pharma Marketing 
Pte Ltd (“APS”);

•	 Reviewed the two year Internal Audit Plan submitted 
by the Internal Auditors;

•	 Conducted private sessions   with the External 
and Internal Auditors in the absence of the 
Management; 

•	 Reviewed the draft Statement on Risk Management 
and Internal Control for inclusion in the Annual 
Report 2013; 

•	 Reviewed draft financial statements at end of each 
quarter and financial year prior to approval for 
release to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad by the 
Board of Directors; and

•	 Reviewed the Year 2014 Audit Plan and Timetable 
with EY.

Internal Audit Function

Audex Governance Sdn Bhd has been the outsourced 
provider of Internal Audit services to the Group since 
1st January 2009. The cost incurred for Internal 
Audit Services in respect of financial year 2014 was 
RM97,073.

In accordance with the Terms of Reference of the AC, the 
Internal Auditors report functionally to the Chairman 
of the AC and administratively to the CEO/FC.

During the financial year ended 31st December 2014, the 
Internal Auditors undertook the following activities:

•	 Attended and reported to the AC at four of five AC 
meetings held during the year 2014;

•	 Conducted a Principal Risk Assessment with key 
Management of the Company and Group and reported 
the findings to the AC;

•	 Reviewed and reported on Procurement (Property, 
Plant & Equipment and Raw Materials) and Inventory 
Distribution processes of AO;

•	 Reviewed and reported on Sales and Marketing and 
Inventory Distribution processes for Melaka branch 
of APM;
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•	 Reviewed and reported on Financial Statement 
Close Process and Credit Control and Collection 
Management of APS; and

•	 Followed up on previous auditable activities of Xepa-
Soul Pattinson (M) Sdn Bhd and APS to ensure 
compliance of recommendations of Internal Auditors 
by Management.
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The Remuneration Committee of Apex Healthcare Berhad is pleased to present the following report for the financial 
year ended 31st December 2014.

Composition of Remuneration Committee and Attendance Record

The Remuneration Committee consists of 3 members, the majority of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors. 
The committee was established on 23rd May 2001. During the year under review, the committee met twice and the 
attendance record is tabulated as follows:

Director Position
Attendance

Total26th Feb 18th Nov
Robert Dobson Millner
(Chairman of 
Remuneration Committee)

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director   2/2

Leong Khai Cheong Senior Independent Non-Executive Director   2/2
Heng Su-Ling Mae Independent Non-Executive Director   2/2
Total Attendance 3/3 3/3

Terms of Reference of Remuneration 
Committee

1.	 Constitution

	 The Board has established a Committee of the 
Board to be known as the Remuneration Committee 
(hereinafter referred to as the “RC”) with authority 
and duties as specified in these Terms of 
Reference.

2.	M embership

2.1	 The RC shall be appointed by the Board from 
amongst the directors of the Company and 
shall consist wholly or mainly of non-executive 
directors. A quorum shall be any 2 members.

2.2	 The members of the RC shall elect a Chairman 
from among their members.

2.3	 The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary 
of the RC.

3.	G uiding Principles

3.1	 The levels of remuneration should be sufficient 
to attract and retain the directors needed to 
run the company successfully. The component 
parts of remuneration should be structured so 
as to link rewards to corporate and individual 

performance, in the case of executive directors. 
In the case of non-executive directors, the level 
of remuneration should reflect the experience 
and level of responsibilities undertaken by the 
particular non-executive concerned.

3.2	 There should be a formal and transparent 
procedure for developing policy on executive 
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration 
packages of individual directors.

3.3	 The Committee shall take into cognizance 
in its deliberations the Listing Requirements 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and the 
principles in the Malaysia Code on Corporate 
Governance 2012, and any other pertinent 
regulations and laws, as well as revisions 
which may come into force thereafter.

4.	 Duties and Functions of the Committee

	 The RC is authorised by the Board to:

4.1	 Review and determine, at least once annually, 
adjustments to the remuneration package, 
including benefits in kind, of each Executive 
Director and Senior Management of the 
Group, taking into account the corporate and 
individual performance, level of responsibility 
and complexity of the role, the inflation price 
index, and where necessary, information 
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from independent sources on remuneration 
packages for equivalent jobs in the industry.

4.2	 Review and determine the quantum of 
performance related bonuses, benefits-in-
kind and Employee Share Options, if available, 
to be given to the Executive Directors linked to 
corporate and individual performance.

4.3	 Review and determine the level of fees 
paid to Non-Executive Directors, taking 
into consideration the fee levels and trends 
for similar positions in the market, time 
commitment required from the director 
(estimated number of days per year). The 
review has also taken into consideration any 
additional responsibilities undertaken by the 
director acting as Chairman of a Board Sub-
Committee or as the Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director.

4.4	 Review and execute the renewal of the 
Consulting Agreement with the Founder as a 
Non-Executive Director.

4.5	 Consider and execute the renewal of the 
service contracts of Senior Management of the 
Group, as and when due, as well as the service 
contracts and remuneration package for newly 
appointed Executive Director(s) prior to their 
appointment.

4.6	 Execute any other duties as may be assigned 
by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Activities of the Remuneration Committee

During the year under review the RC in discharge of its 
duties carried out the following activities:

•	 Assessed the performance of the Chief Executive 
Officer and determined his performance bonus for 
financial year 2013 and adjustments to salary for 
financial year 2014;

•	 Reviewed and approved the recommendations 
of the Chief Executive Officer in respect of 
performance bonuses for financial year 2013 and 
salary adjustments and promotions for Senior 
Management of Apex Healthcare Berhad Group for 
financial year 2014;

•	 Reviewed and approved Key Performance Indicators 
for financial year 2014 for the Chief Executive Officer 
and Group’s Senior Management;

•	 Reviewed published reports of Directors’ Fees 
of publicly listed Pharmaceutical  companies in 
Malaysia; 

•	 Approved the Renewal of the Consulting Agreement 
with the Founder Non-Executive Director, Mr Kee Tah 
Peng and the Consulting Agreement with Mr Ki Tak 
Sang; and

•	 Prepared the Annual Remuneration Committee 
Report to the Board for inclusion in the Company’s 
Annual Report 2013.

Directors’ Remuneration 

The remuneration of the Directors is presented in bands 
of RM 50,000 for financial year 2014 in the table below:

Remuneration Band

Non-
Executive 
Directors

Executive 
Director

Below RM 100,000 3 -

RM 100,001 to RM 150,000 2 -

RM 250,001 to RM 300,000 1 -

RM 2,150,001 to RM 2,200,000 - 1

In addition, the remuneration is analysed into these 
categories as follows:

Analysis of 
Remuneration

Executive 
Director

(RM)

Non-
Executive 
Directors

(RM)
Total
(RM)

Fees 63,000 435,750 498,750

Salaries & other 
emoluments

674,256 251,881 926,137

Bonus 1,238,358 - 1,238,358

Pension costs –
  defined
  contribution
  plans

138,508 - 138,508

Non-monetary 
benefits

52,949 52,970 105,919

2,167,071 740,601 2,907,672
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The Nomination Committee of Apex Healthcare Berhad is pleased to present the following report for the financial 
year ended 31st December 2014.

Composition of Nomination Committee and Attendance Record

The Nomination Committee consists of 3 members, the majority of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors. 
The committee was established on 23rd May 2001. During the year under review, the committee met twice and the 
attendance record is tabulated as follows:

Director Position
Attendance

Total26th Feb 18th Nov
Heng Su-Ling Mae 
(Chairman of Nomination Committee)
(Appointed on 26th February 2014)

Independent Non-
Executive Director

N / A  1/1

Robert Dobson Millner
(Appointed on 26th February 2014)

Non-Independent Non-
Executive Director

N / A  1/1

Leong Khai Cheong Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director 

  2/2

Dr Ahmad Kamal bin Md Alif
(Resigned on 26th February 2014)

Independent Non-
Executive Director

 N / A 1/1

Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong 
(Resigned on 26th February 2014)

Non-Independent Non-
Executive Director 

x N / A 0/1

Total Attendance 2/3 3/3

N/A: Not Applicable

Terms of Reference of Nomination Committee

1.	 Constitution

	 The Board has established a Committee of the 
Board to be known as the Nomination Committee 
(hereinafter referred to as the “NC”) with 
authority and duties as specified in these Terms of 
Reference.

2.	M embership

2.1	 The NC shall be appointed by the Board from 
amongst the directors of the Company and shall 
comprise exclusively of non-executive directors, 
the majority of whom shall be independent. A 
quorum shall be any 2 members.

2.2	 The members of the NC shall elect a Chairman 
from among their members.

2.3	 The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary 
of the NC.

3.	P rinciples

3.1	 The ultimate decision on the appointment of 
directors to the Board is the responsibility of 
the Board of Directors after due consideration 
of the recommendations of the NC.

3.2	 The Board embraces diversity amongst 
its members and has ensured a good 
representation of the relevant skills and 
experience for the discharge of its duties. Its 
policy towards boardroom diversity is above 
all, to be non-discriminatory with regards to 
gender, race or religion, and only considering 
relevant qualifications, ability and commitment 
when proposing candidates for shareholders’ 
approval. 

3.3	 The Board desires that each of its directors, 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer / Financial Controller be of appropriate 
character, experience, integrity and competence 
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so as to carry out their duties in the best 
interest of the Company. In addition, each of the 
non-executive directors must be able to devote 
time to discharge their responsibilities in their 
respective roles and Board sub-committees.

3.4	 The NC shall take into cognizance in its 
deliberations the Listing Requirements of 
Bursa Malaysia Berhad and the principles of 
the Malaysia Code of Corporate Governance 
2012, and any other pertinent regulations and 
laws, as well as revisions which may come into 
force thereafter.

4.	 Duties and Functions of the Committee

	 The NC shall:

4.1	 Assess and recommend to the Board, 
candidates for all directorships to be filled 
by the shareholders or the Board, taking into 
consideration candidates’
•	 skills,  knowledge, expertise and 

experience;
•	 professionalism;
•	 integrity; and
•	 in the case of candidates for independent 

directors, ability to discharge the 
responsibilities and functions expected of 
Independent Non-Executive Directors. 

4.2 	 Seek, evaluate and recommend candidates 
for directorship as and when required. The 
NC should seek recommendations and 
referrals from shareholders, directors, 
senior management and external sources 
where practicable in identifying appropriate 
candidates. Evaluation of candidates include 
the review of resumes, reference checks and 
interviews based on criteria established in 
para 2.20A of the Listing Requirements. The 
NC will then recommend chosen candidates to 
the Board for consideration.

4.3	 Assess annually the effectiveness of the Board 
as a whole, the Committees of the Board, 
individual Directors including Independent 
Non-Executive Directors, as well as the Chief 
Executive Officer, and the Company Secretaries 
through a process to be implemented by 
the Board. All assessments and evaluations 
carried out by the NC in the discharge of all its 

functions should be properly documented.

4.4	 Assess the independence of the Independent 
Directors upon admission, annually and when 
any new interest or relationship develops and 
confirm the conduct of this assessment in the 
annual report of the Company and in any notice 
convening a general meeting seeking approval 
for the appointment and re-appointment of 
Independent Directors.

4.5	 Recommend to the Board, Directors to fill the 
seats on other Board Committees.

4.6	 Review annually the Board’s required mix 
of skills and experience and other qualities, 
including core competencies which Non-
Executive Directors bring to the Board.

4.7	 Determine appropriate training for Directors, 
review the fulfillment of such training, and 
disclose details in the annual report as 
appropriate, in accordance with Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad’s guidelines on Directors’ 
Training.

4.8	 Consider and recommend the Directors for re-
election at each Annual General Meeting.

4.9	 Undertake any other duties as may be assigned 
by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Activities of the Nomination Committee

The activities of the NC during financial year 2014 
included: 

•	 Reviewed the composition of the Board and Board 
sub-committees with regards to the mix of skills, 
independence and diversity in accordance with its 
policy as stated in the Group’s Corporate Governance 
Statement to ensure compliance.

•	 Assessed and reviewed the independence and 
continuing independence of the Independent 
Directors

•	 Assessment of the effectiveness and performance of 
the Board, Directors and Board Sub-committees for 
financial year 2013; This is carried out through a self-
assessment document that is completed by each 
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director and reviewed by the NC. Assessment criteria include the following:

	 Board composition
	 Board process
	 Performance of Board Committees
	 Information provided to the Board
	 Role of the Board in strategy and planning
	 Risk management framework
	 Accountability and standard of conduct of Directors

•	 Reviewed and assessed the training record and needs of each director, and proposed training courses to meet any 
shortfall or gaps in knowledge.

•	 Determined the Directors to stand for re-election and re-appointment at the 2014 Annual General Meeting on 21st 
May 2014.

•	 Reviewed the character, experience, integrity and competence of all the directors, the Chief Executive Officer 
and Financial Controller and assessed their performance in 2014, paying attention to whether each of the non-
executive directors have made available sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities and duties.

•	 Considered the nomination of Datuk Noharuddin bin Nordin @ Haron as Independent Director.

Attendance Record at Board Meetings in financial year 2014

Director Position

Attendance

Total
26th

Feb
21st 
May

20th

Aug
18th

Nov

Dr Kee Kirk Chin Chairman & CEO     4/4
Kee Tah Peng @ 
Hee Teck Peng

Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director

    4/4

Robert Dobson Millner Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director and Chairman of 
Remuneration  Committee 

    4/4

Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director 

x    3/4

Leong Khai Cheong Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director and Chairman of Audit 
Committee

    4/4

Heng Su-Ling Mae Independent Non-Executive Director 
and Chairman of Nomination  
Committee

    4/4

Dr Ahmad Kamal bin Md Aliff
(Retired at the conclusion of 
2014 Annual General Meeting)

Independent Non-Executive Director  N / A N / A N / A 1/1

Tong Yew Sum 
(Appointed at the 2014 Annual 
General Meeting)

Independent Non-Executive Director N / A    3/3

Total Attendance 6/7 7/7 7/7 7/7

The Secretary was present at all Board Meetings held in 2014.
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Directors’ Training

The Directors of the Company had attended the following training programmes/seminars during the financial year 
ended 31st December 2014:- 

Name Date Subject

Dr Kee Kirk Chin 3rd June 2014 Risk Management & Internal Control Workshops for Audit 
Committee Members

20th August 2014 Implementation of GST

Kee Tah Peng @
Hee Teck Peng

20th August 2014 Implementation of GST

Robert Dobson Millner 7th May 2014 What makes for a high performing board

20th August 2014 Implementation of GST

Leong Khai Cheong 25th March 2014 The Corporate Governance Guide (Towards Boardroom 
Excellence - 2nd Edition)

15th May 2014 Corporate Governance Seminar Malaysia

20th August 2014 Implementation of GST

4th November 2014 &
5th November 2014

MIA International Accountants Conference 2014

Jackson Chevalier 
Yap-Kit-Siong

20th August 2014 Implementation of GST

Heng Su-Ling Mae 3rd June 2014 Risk Management & Internal Control Workshops for Audit 
Committee Members

20th August 2014 Implementation of GST

Tong Yew Sum 5th June 2014 Risk Management & Internal Control Workshops for Audit 
Committee Members

2nd July 2014 Advocacy Sessions on Corporate Disclosures for Director

6th August 2014 & 
7th August 2014

Mandatory Accreditation Programme (MAP) for Directors of 
Public Listed Companies

13th August 2014 Enhancing Internal Audit Practice

20th August 2014 Implementation of GST

14th October 2014 Risk Management & Internal Control: 
“An Integrated Assurance on Risk Management and Internal 
Control - Is Our Line of Defence Adequate and Effective”
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Apex Healthcare Berhad (‘AHB’), with its mission of 
“Restoring Health, Enhancing Life” believes in serving 
the community in a sustainable manner, in all aspects of 
its business operations and in a way which brings value 
to all stakeholders.

Our Sustainability Statement sets out our approach, 
based on a foundation of considering the impact of our 
business endeavours on ‘People, Profit and Planet’, 
conveniently referred to as the 3Ps. We believe in 
sustainable development through the guiding principle 
of the three pillars of social development (People), 
economic advancement (Profit) and environmental 
protection (Planet).  

People

AHB upholds fair business practices toward all employees 
in every region where we conduct our business. We 
ensure that we do not take advantage of our people.  
A remuneration scheme based on performance is 
established to ensure that all employees are rewarded 
fairly.  We aim to treat every employee with respect. Taking 
into account personal and cultural differences, we aim to 
respect and value our people’s diversities and support 
them to realize their potential.  We are concerned with 
the holistic wellbeing of our employees and we place 
importance on a healthy work-life balance, with due 
regard for our employees’ working hours and weekends. 
We ensure a safe and healthy work environment is 
maintained at all times for our employees.

AHB has a clear vision and strategy in building people 
competencies and talents for long-term business 
sustainability and success. We have established Apex 
Healthcare Continuing Professional Development 
(CPD) as part of our people development strategies. 
Through continuing professional development, we aim 
to create an environment where our people are able to 
develop their skills and are inspired and motivated to be 
the best they can be.  We place emphasis on effective 
talent-pool management to sustain the leadership 
pipeline. We devise models to identify the key roles, define 
core competencies and motivational profile, assess our 
people’s competencies and institute suitable training 
programmes to develop the talent pool for advancement 
into the key roles.

A key element of our Sustainability Statement is to 
positively impact the communities where we operate 
through our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 

initiatives. We have organised gotong royong sessions 
in schools to support them in their fight against dengue 
menace and conducted health talks, blood screening 
programs and blood donation campaign as well as 
provided donations to support humanitarian causes. In 
our efforts to nurture the leaders of tomorrow, we have 
sponsored book prizes for university students and hosted 
visits by undergraduates.  In this regard, we are constantly 
looking for appropriate avenues to contribute to the 
communities in a manner which is both sustainable, and 
relevant to its mission of “Restoring Health, Enhancing 
Life”. We also strive to protect and safeguard everyone 
who uses our products from harm. We ensure that only 
those products meeting defined standards of quality, 
safety and efficacy reach the marketplace.

Profit

While we continue to focus on delivering robust 
profitability, we do not only place emphasis on our 
internal profits but on the social benefits at large. 
We price our deliverables fairly thus ensuring a real 
economic benefit is enjoyed by our customers. Regular 
reviews are conducted to ensure our profit margins are 
competitive and fair; and not exploitative. Accurate and 
timely information is disseminated to our customers 
regarding our products to ensure each business 
transaction is conducted in a fair and transparent manner 
to maximise our customers’ benefits.

We aim to give shareholders a fair return by ensuring 
that in all our business operations, we have the right 
business strategies in place, supported by optimal 
implementation of strategies with due emphasis on 
compliance and governance during the execution. For 
sustainable growth of the business, we will continue to 
reinvest to expand our areas of growth and to strengthen 
operational efficiencies; ultimately ensuring that the 
communities benefit too from the economic development 
of our business.

Planet

AHB believes in sustainable environmental practices. 
Our environmental policy is to minimise adverse 
environmental impact as far as possible while ensuring 
that the relevant regulations and standards are met.

Our manufacturing operations have internal targets 
for product packaging, production scrap and reject 
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reduction, with monitoring systems in place to prevent 
and minimise waste. Such production waste is 
responsibly disposed of according to strict procedures 
which satisfy all the stringent regulations applicable to 
our industry. Likewise in our supply chain business, we 
strive to minimise product expiry, stock obsolescence 
and waste, through good management of inventory.

AHB endeavours to reduce its ecological footprint by 
carefully managing its consumption of energy. Our 
manufacturing and warehouse facilities review and set 
targets for energy consumption on a regular basis.  In 
our logistics business, we have located our warehouses 
to be in geographical proximity with our customers, in 
order to minimise delivery times and distances. We will 
continue to explore ways to minimise water and energy 
consumption.
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Apex Healthcare Berhad and all its subsidiaries and 
associates (collectively referred to as "Apex Healthcare" 
or "we" or "us" or "our") respect and are committed to 
the protection of your personal data and your privacy. This 
Privacy Policy explains how we collect, store and handle 
your personal data in accordance with the Personal Data 
Protection Act 2010 ("PDPA").

Please read this Privacy Policy to understand how we 
use the personal data that we may collect from you. 
By providing your personal data to us or using our 
website, you are consenting to the terms and conditions 
of this Privacy Policy and the collection, use, access, 
transfer, storage and processing of your personal data 
as described in this Privacy Policy. If you do not wish to 
give us this consent, kindly notify us in writing and do not 
use any of the electronic forms on our website. Failure to 
consent to the terms and conditions of this Privacy Policy 
will result in us being unable to process your application, 
request and/or provide you with the relevant product(s) 
or service(s).

We reserve the right to amend this Privacy Policy at 
any time without prior notice. We advise that you check 
this Privacy Policy on a regular basis at our website 
www.apexpharmacy.com.

1.	 Defining Personal Data

1.1	 Type of Personal Data

	 Personal data means any information which 
relates directly or indirectly to you and which 
was collected or provided to Apex Healthcare 
for the purposes stated in Section 2 below. 
Your personal information may encompass 
your name, identity card/passport number, 
date of birth, age, gender, nationality and 
race, photograph, education, occupation, 
job title, employment details, membership 
of professional associations, contact details 
including address, e-mail address, phone 
number and facsimile number, marital status, 
financial and banking account details, security 
recordings and location tracking information, 
and may include in certain cases, sensitive 
personal information relating to your health 
and pertinent details concerning your family 
members and other personal information which 
may be supplied to us from time to time. 

1.2	S ource of Personal Data

	 We may collect personal data from you when 
you:

•	 communicate with us
•	 register interest and/or submit your 

application for employment with Apex 
Healthcare

•	 register interest and/or request for 
information of our product(s) and/or 
service(s)

•	 register or subscribe for any of our 
product(s) and/or service(s)

•	 respond to any marketing materials we 
send out or distribute

•	 commence a business relationship with 
us 

•	 visit any of our premises
•	 visit or browse our websites
•	 lodge a complaint with us
•	 provide feedback to us
•	 participate in any of our surveys
•	 enter into or participate in any event, 

workshop or programme run/organised by 
us

•	 subscribe to Apex Healthcare Berhad 
shares in the Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad Main Market

	 Other than personal information obtained from 
you directly (as detailed above), we may also 
obtain your personal information from third 
parties we deal with or are connected with 
you (previous employer(s), credit reference 
agencies or financial institutions), and from 
such other sources where you have given 
your consent for the disclosure of information 
relating to you, and/or where otherwise 
lawfully permitted.

1.3	O bligatory Personal Data

	 All information requested for in the relevant 
forms is obligatory to be provided by you 
unless stated otherwise. Should you fail to 
provide the obligatory information, we will not 
be able to process your application, request 
and/or provide you with the relevant product(s) 
or service(s).

2.	 How We Use Your Personal Data
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	 Your personal data will be/is being collected, used 
and/or processed by Apex Healthcare for amongst 
others, the following purposes:

•	 to verify your identity 
•	 to enable us to discharge our contractual 

obligations
•	 to establish and better manage any business 

relationship we may have with you
•	 to engage in business transactions in respect 

of products and/or services to be offered and 
provided to you

•	 to assess and process your application/request 
for our product(s) and/or service(s)

•	 to keep in contact with you and provide you with 
any information you have requested or which 
may interest you

•	 for recruitment
•	 for training and development
•	 to be used for human resource-related 

purposes 
•	 to notify you about benefits and changes to the 

features of our product(s) and/or service(s)
•	 to administer and manage the product(s) and/

or service(s) we provide you (including charging, 
billing, facilitating payments and collecting 
debts)

•	 to investigate and resolve any billing queries, 
complaints or other enquiries that you submit to 
us regarding our product(s) and/or service(s) 

•	 to process any communication you send us (for 
example, dealing with any query, feedback or 
complaint)

•	 to assess and/or verify credit worthiness
•	 to conduct marketing activities (for example, 

market research)
•	 to facilitate your participation in any event, 

workshop or programme run/organised by us
•	 to develop, maintain and upgrade our business 

operating system and infrastructure for better 
efficiency

•	 to determine how we can improve our services 
to you

•	 to manage staff training and quality assurance
•	 to produce data, reports and statistics which 

shall be anonymised or aggregated in a manner 
that does not identify you as an individual

•	 to investigate, respond to, or defend claims 
made against, or involving Apex Healthcare

•	 to detect and prevent fraudulent activity
•	 to maintain records required for security, claims 

or other legal purposes

•	 to comply with legal and regulatory requirements 
and obligations

•	 for any other purposes that is required or 
permitted by any law, regulations, guidelines 
and/or relevant regulatory authorities.

3.	 Disclosure Of Personal Data

	 Apex Healthcare will keep your personal data 
confidential but you hereby consent and authorise 
Apex Healthcare to disclose your personal data to 
relevant third parties (in and/or outside Malaysia) 
including:

•	 Third parties appointed by us to provide services 
to us or on our behalf (for example auditors, 
lawyers, company secretary, consultants, 
contractors, professional advisors, service 
providers, printing companies, contractors, 
business partners, conference/training/event 
organiser, other advisors, travel agencies and 
insurance companies)

•	 Any related, affiliated and subsidiaries or 
associated companies of Apex Healthcare

•	 Property  management/utility/security  companies 
for management of property purchased 

•	 Relevant government agencies, statutory 
authorities, local council and industry 
regulators. 

4.	St orage And Retention Of Personal Data

	 Your personal data will be stored either in hard 
copies in our premises or stored in servers located 
in Malaysia and will either be operated by us or 
our appointed service providers, consultants or 
advisors. Apex Healthcare does not rent or sell your 
personal data to third parties. Apex Healthcare will 
retain your personal data for the period necessary 
to fulfill the legal requirements of data retention as 
stipulated by the respective laws of Malaysia or to 
protect our interests.

5.	Per sonal Data Integrity And Security

	 We will take reasonable steps to make sure that 
the personal data we collect, use or disclose is 
accurate, complete, not misleading and up-to-
date. We shall keep and process your data in a 
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secure manner.  We  endeavour, where practicable, 
to implement the appropriate administrative and 
security safeguards and procedures in accordance 
with the applicable laws and regulations to prevent 
the unauthorised or unlawful processing of your 
personal data and the accidental loss or destruction 
of, or damage to, your personal data.

	 In the event that transfer of your personal data 
outside of Malaysia is rendered necessary for the 
performance of the services required of us, the 
transfer of data will be done in accordance with the 
requirements of the PDPA and you are deemed to 
have consented to the said data transfer.

6.	Acce ss And Correction To Your Personal 
Data

	 You have the qualified right to access and correct 
your personal data held by us and in this respect, 
you may:

•	 check if we hold or use your personal data and 
request access to your personal data;

•	 request for correction of any of your personal 
information which is inaccurate, incomplete or 
not up-to-date;

•	 request for explanation on the policies and 
procedures in respect of your personal data 
provided to Apex Healthcare;

•	 request Apex Healthcare to stop processing your 
personal data for marketing purposes;

•	 request Apex Healthcare to limit the process 
of your personal data, including personal data 
limiting to the persons who may be identified 
from your personal data; and

•	 inform Apex Healthcare on your withdrawal (in 
full or in part) of your consent given previously 
to Apex Healthcare subject to any applicable 
restrictions, contractual conditions and a 
reasonable duration of time for the withdrawal 
of consent to be effected.

	 You may notify us in writing if you do not wish to 
receive any marketing materials from us and we 
shall immediately remove you from our marketing 
contact list.

	 We recommend that requests for access to your 
personal data be made in writing. We may also 
require you to provide us with additional information 

reasonably required to process your request.

	 Please note that under the PDPA, we have the right 
to refuse your requests to access or correct your 
personal data for certain reasons permitted under 
the PDPA. We have the right to also charge an 
administrative fee for responding to your requests. 

7.	Y our Obligations Regarding Your Personal 
Data

	 You are responsible for informing us about changes 
to your personal data and for ensuring that such 
information is accurate, up-to-date and complete.  

	 In the event you may need to provide us with 
personal data relating to third parties (for example 
about your spouse or children or where you are the 
designated person in charge for dealing with us or if 
you are acquiring and are responsible for a product 
and/or service that they will use), you confirm that 
you have (i) obtained their consent or otherwise 
entitled to provide their personal data to us and for 
us to use accordingly, and (ii) informed them to read 
this Privacy Policy at our website.

	 If you are using our website, you must remember 
to exit the browser window after use to prevent any 
unauthorised access to your personal data.

8.	 Contact Information

	 If you have any queries, please contact us at +603-
56376888 from Monday to Friday (8.15am – 5pm, 
excluding public holidays) or e-mail us at privacy@
apexpharmacy.com.my
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company for the financial year ended 31st December 2014.							     
			 
										        
Principal activities										        
										        
The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the provision of management services. The 
principal activities of the subsidiaries consist of manufacturing, distribution, marketing and retailing of pharmaceutical 
products. Other activities include property rental and management.							     
			 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.		
								      
										        
Results

Group Company
RM RM

Profit net of tax 33,977,177 33,887,699

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent 33,864,277 33,887,699
Non-controlling interest 112,900 -

33,977,177 33,887,699

	
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed 
in the financial statements.	
									       
In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year 
were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.			 
										        
										        
Dividends	

The amounts of dividends paid by the Company since 31st December 2013 were as follows:

RM
In respect of the financial year ended 31st December 2013 as reported in the

directors’ report of that year:

Final single-tier dividend of 6.0 sen per share on 93,716,875 ordinary
shares, declared on 26th February 2014 and paid on 5th June 2014; 5,623,011

In respect of the financial year ended 31st December 2014:

Interim single-tier dividend of 3.5 sen per share on 117,146,093 ordinary

shares, declared on 20th August 2014 and paid on 30th September 2014 4,100,111

9,723,122
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Dividends (Cont’d)

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final single-tier dividend of 6.0 sen per share in respect of the financial 
year ended 31st December 2014, on 117,146,093 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of RM7,028,766 
will be proposed for shareholders’ approval. The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this 
proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation 
of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31st December 2015.						    
				  
										        
Directors										        
										        
The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report 
are:	
									       
Dr. Kee Kirk Chin
Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng								     
Robert Dobson Millner								     
Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong								     
Leong Khai Cheong								     
Heng Su-Ling Mae								     
Tong Yew Sum	 (appointed at the 2014 Annual General Meeting)
Dr. Ahmad Kamal bin Md. Alif	 (retired at the conclusion of 2014 Annual General Meeting)				  
								     
Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng and Tong Yew Sum retire pursuant to Section 129(2) of the Companies Act, 1965 (“the 
Act”) and seek re-appointment as directors under Section 129(6) of the Act to hold office until the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.	
									       
In accordance with Article 89 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong and Heng Su-
Ling Mae retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 	
									       
										        
Directors’ benefits										        
										        
Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which 
the Company was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.								      
		
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than 
benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors or the fixed 
salary of a full-time employee of the Company as shown in Note 12 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract 
made by the Company or a related corporation with any director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or 
with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in Note 37 to the financial 
statements.										        
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Directors’ interests										       
										        
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year 
in shares in the Company during the financial year were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares of RM1 each
As at Bonus/ As at

1.1.2014 Acquired Disposed 31.12.2014

Direct interest:

Dr. Kee Kirk Chin 750,000 187,500 # - 937,500

Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng 256,250 64,062 # - 320,312

Robert Dobson Millner 18,750 4,687 # - 23,437

Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong 18,750 4,687 # - 23,437

Leong Khai Cheong 118,750 29,687 # - 148,437

Indirect interest:

Dr. Kee Kirk Chin 38,430,711 156,000 - 48,219,855

9,633,144 #

Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng 38,468,211 156,000 - 48,266,730

9,642,519 #
									       
#	 Bonus issue on the basis of 1 new ordinary share for every 4 existing ordinary shares on 24th June 2014.		
							     
Dr. Kee Kirk Chin and Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng, by virtue of their interests in shares in the Company, are also 
deemed interested in shares in all the subsidiaries of the Company to the extent the Company has an interest.		
								      
The other directors in office at the end of the financial year do not have any interests in shares in the Company or its 
related corporations during the financial year.  									       
	
										        
Issue of shares										        
										        
During the financial year, the Company increased its:								      
										        
(a)	 authorised ordinary share capital from RM100,000,000 to RM200,000,000 through the creation of 100,000,000 new 

ordinary shares of RM1.00 each; and									       
										        
(b)	 issued and paid-up ordinary share capital from RM93,716,875 to RM117,146,093 by way of the issuance of 

23,429,218 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each through a bonus issue of 1 new ordinary share for every 4 existing 
ordinary shares (“Bonus Issue”) via the capitalisation of retained earnings of the Company.			 
						    

The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year ranked pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary 
shares of the Company.	 									       
										        
										        

Directors’ Report
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Other statutory information									       
	
(a)	 Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the 

Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:							     
									       
(i)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of 

allowance for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that 
adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and							    
	

(ii)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting 
records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected 
so to realise.								      

										        
(b)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:			 

							     
(i)	 the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial 

statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and			 
					   

(ii)	 the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
misleading.								      

										        
(c)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render 

adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading 
or inappropriate.									       

										        
(d)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report 

or financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial 
statements misleading.									       

										        
(e)	 At the date of this report, there does not exist:								      

	
(i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year 

which secures the liabilities of any other person; or							     
	

(ii)	 any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.	
							     

(f)	 In the opinion of the directors:									       
										        
(i)	 no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period 

of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the 
Company to meet their obligations when they fall due; and							     
	

(ii)	 no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of 
the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations 
of the Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.	 			 
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Auditors	
										        
The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.					   
					   
										        
Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 17th March 2015.			 
							     
										        
										        
										        
										        
										        
Dr. Kee Kirk Chin	 Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng

Directors’ Report
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Statement by directors
Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

We,  Dr. Kee Kirk Chin and Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng, being two of the directors of Apex Healthcare Berhad, do 
hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 62 to 135 are 
drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group and of the Company as at 31st December 2014 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended.											         
											         
Supplementary information – breakdown of retained profits into realised and unrealised					   
						    
Further to the statement by directors, pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965, as above, the information 
set out in Note 43 on page 136 to the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Guidance on Special 
Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the directive 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
										        
											         
Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 17th March 2015.			 
								      
											         
											         
											         
											         
											         
Dr. Kee Kirk Chin	 Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng	

	

Statutory declaration
Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

							     
								      

			 
I, Chiew Woon Wui, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Apex Healthcare Berhad, do 
solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 62 to 135 are in my opinion 
correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions 
of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.										        
	
											         
Subscribed and solemnly declared by 										        
the abovenamed Chiew Woon Wui										        
at Melaka in Malaysia 											         
on 17th March 2015	C hiew Woon Wui					   
	

Before me,											         
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Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Apex Healthcare Berhad 
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of Apex Healthcare Berhad, which comprise statements of financial position 
as at 31st December 2014 of the Group and of the Company, and statements of comprehensive income, statements of 
changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 62 to 135.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair 
view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company 
as at 31st December 2014 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) 	 In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and 
its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act.

(b) 	 We have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not 
acted as auditors, which are indicated in Note 19 to the financial statements, being financial statements that have 
been included in the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Apex Healthcare Berhad (Cont’d)

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements (Cont’d)

(c) 	 We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial 
statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us 
for those purposes.

(d) 	 The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries were not subject to any qualification and did not 
include any comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

Other reporting responsibilities

The supplementary information set out in Note 43 on page 136 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised 
Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as 
issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 
In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance 
and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies 
Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of 
this report.

Ernst & Young 	H oh Yoon Hoong
AF: 0039 	 No. 2990/08/16(J)
Chartered Accountants 	 Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
17th March 2015
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Statements of comprehensive income
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note RM RM RM RM

Revenue 6 499,237,418 418,450,850 36,442,368 25,578,210

Cost of sales/services rendered 7 (383,122,647) (312,887,604) (2,057,720) (1,697,148)

Gross profit 116,114,771 105,563,246 34,384,648 23,881,062

Other income 8 4,264,970 2,528,175 1,942,674 1,238,575

Administrative expenses (20,037,606) (18,078,078) (1,948,322) (1,735,519)

Selling and marketing expenses (55,041,098) (47,579,526) (22,753) (5,037)

Other expenses (586,560) (998,276) (142,227) (114,768)

Operating profit 44,714,477 41,435,541 34,214,020 23,264,313

Finance costs 9 (8,034) (42,752) - -

Share of results of a joint venture 82,918 (777,470) - -

Share of results of an associate 834,730 - - -

Profit before tax 10 45,624,091 40,615,319 34,214,020 23,264,313

Income tax expense 13 (11,646,914) (10,492,826) (326,321) (3,123,353)

Profit net of tax 33,977,177 30,122,493 33,887,699 20,140,960

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income to be

  reclassified to profit or loss in

  subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of

  foreign operations 963,356 1,853,284 - -

Income tax effect - - - -

Other comprehensive income to be

  reclassified to profit or loss in

  subsequent periods, representing

  total other comprehensive income 963,356 1,853,284 - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 34,940,533 31,975,777 33,887,699 20,140,960
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Statements of comprehensive income
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014 (Cont’d)

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note RM RM RM RM

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the parent 33,864,277 30,021,658 33,887,699 20,140,960

Non-controlling interest 112,900 100,835 - -

33,977,177 30,122,493 33,887,699 20,140,960

Total comprehensive

  income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 34,827,633 31,874,942 33,887,699 20,140,960

Non-controlling interest 112,900 100,835 - -

34,940,533 31,975,777 33,887,699 20,140,960

Earnings per share attributable to owners

  of the parent (sen per share):

Basic 14 28.91 25.63

Net dividends per share in respect

  of the year (sen per share): 15 9.50 14.25

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of financial position
as at 31st December 2014

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Note RM RM RM RM

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 99,554,525 106,921,010 516,549 308,135
Investment properties 17 5,854,699 3,328,599 - -
Intangible assets 18 1,222,173 1,190,400 - -
Investment in subsidiaries 19 - - 56,377,940 56,377,940
Investment in a joint venture 20 - 4,210,530 - -
Investment in an associate 21 7,116,178 - 7,245,139 -
Deferred tax assets 22 168,000 376,000 - -
Receivables 23 10,000,000 5,000,000 18,996,750 18,815,000
Long term investment 24 5,520,000 5,520,000 5,520,000 5,520,000

129,435,575 126,546,539 88,656,378 81,021,075

Current assets
Inventories 25 51,697,590 47,742,312 - -
Receivables 23 113,809,105 101,323,661 48,919,973 35,151,365
Prepayments 375,144 120,087 40,296 13,747
Tax recoverable 408,657 482,049 408,657 432,579
Available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial asset 26 - 3,928,206 - 3,870,090
Derivative financial instruments 27 173,896 24,596 - -
Short term deposits 28 26,770,562 16,033,321 11,795,562 5,653,321
Cash and bank balances 28 29,285,249 16,770,787 584,260 273,408

222,520,203 186,425,019 61,748,748 45,394,510
Assets classified as held for sale 29 2,479,283 - - -

224,999,486 186,425,019 61,748,748 45,394,510

Total assets 354,435,061 312,971,558 150,405,126 126,415,585



Annual report 2014                 65

Statements of financial position
as at 31st December 2014 (Cont’d)

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Note RM RM RM RM

Equity and liabilities

Current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 27 - 571 - -
Payables 30 86,505,256 70,374,296 1,483,507 1,658,543
Hire purchase payable 31 11,130 - - -
Current tax payable 2,236,343 1,770,785 - -

88,752,729 72,145,652 1,483,507 1,658,543

Non-current liabilities
Hire purchase payable 31 32,463 - - -
Deferred tax liabilities 22 5,358,995 5,752,443 - -

5,391,458 5,752,443 - -

Net current assets 136,246,757 114,279,367 60,265,241 43,735,967

Total liabilities 94,144,187 77,898,095 1,483,507 1,658,543

Net assets 260,290,874 235,073,463 148,921,619 124,757,042

Equity attributable to 
  owners of the parent
Share capital 32 117,146,093 93,716,875 117,146,093 93,716,875
Foreign currency translation reserve 33 4,181,178 3,217,822 - -
Retained earnings 34 138,607,958 137,896,021 31,775,526 31,040,167

259,935,229 234,830,718 148,921,619 124,757,042
Non-controlling interest 355,645 242,745 - -

Total equity 260,290,874 235,073,463 148,921,619 124,757,042

Total equity and liabilities 354,435,061 312,971,558 150,405,126 126,415,585

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014

 Attributable to owners of the parent 
Equity  Non-distributable Distributable

attributable Foreign
to owners of currency Non-

Equity, the parent, Share translation Retained controlling
total total capital  reserve earnings interest

(Note 32) (Note 33) (Note 34)
Note RM RM RM RM RM RM

Group

At 1st January 2014 235,073,463 234,830,718 93,716,875 3,217,822 137,896,021 242,745 
Total comprehensive 

income 34,940,533 34,827,633 - 963,356 33,864,277 112,900 
Transactions with owners

Issuance of shares in 	
respect of Bonus Issue 32 - - 23,429,218 - (23,429,218) - 

Dividends on ordinary 
shares, representing

	 total transactions with 
owners 15 (9,723,122) (9,723,122) - - (9,723,122) - 

(9,723,122) (9,723,122) 23,429,218 - (33,152,340) - 

At 31st December 2014 260,290,874 259,935,229 117,146,093 4,181,178 138,607,958 355,645 

At 1st January 2013 216,452,344 216,310,434 93,716,875 1,364,538 121,229,021 141,910 
Total comprehensive 

income 31,975,777 31,874,942 - 1,853,284 30,021,658 100,835 
Transactions with owners

Dividends on ordinary 
shares, representing

	 total transactions with 
owners 15 (13,354,658) (13,354,658) - - (13,354,658) - 

At 31st December 2013 235,073,463 234,830,718 93,716,875 3,217,822 137,896,021 242,745 
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Statements of changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014 (Cont’d)

Note

Share capital 
(Note 32) 

RM

Distributable 
Retained 
earnings 
(Note 34) 

RM

Equity, 
total

RM

Company

At 1st January 2014 93,716,875 31,040,167 124,757,042
Total comprehensive income - 33,887,699 33,887,699
Transaction with owners 
  Issuance of shares in respect of Bonus Issue 32 23,429,218 (23,429,218) -
  Dividends on ordinary shares 15 - (9,723,122) (9,723,122)

23,429,218 (33,152,340) (9,723,122)

At 31st December 2014 117,146,093 31,775,526 148,921,619

At 1st January 2013 93,716,875 24,253,865 117,970,740
Total comprehensive income - 20,140,960 20,140,960
Transaction with owners 
  Dividends on ordinary shares 15 - (13,354,658) (13,354,658)

At 31st December 2013 93,716,875 31,040,167 124,757,042

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



68	 Apex healthcare berhad (473108-T)

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note RM RM RM RM

(Restated) (Restated)

Operating activities

Profit before tax 45,624,091 40,615,319 34,214,020 23,264,313 

Adjustments for:

Property, plant and equipment

	 - depreciation 10 8,797,252 7,682,811 83,555 43,725 

	 - written off 10 2,024 12,747 5 1,183 

Depreciation of investment properties 10 83,755 72,717 - - 

Intangible assets

	 - amortisation 10 59,420 43,677 - - 

	 - written off 10 1 - - -

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, 

 plant and equipment  (306,227) (77,156) 1,040 - 

Loss on disposal of intangible assets 10 - 3 - - 

Impairment loss on investment

	 properties 10 - 118,766 - - 

Profit on disposal of AFS financial asset (406,594) - (464,710) - 

Interest expense 9 8,034 42,752 - - 

Interest income (929,879) (478,402) (1,411,266) (886,281)

Dividend income 6 - - (34,140,000) (23,490,000)

Net fair value gain on 

financial instruments:

	 - Financial assets at fair value through 
	        profit or loss 8 - (63,138) - - 

	 - Derivatives (149,871) (7,462) - - 

Dividend income from 

	 investment securities 8 - (61,807) - - 

Share of results of a joint venture (82,918) 777,470 - - 

Share of results of an associate (834,730) - - - 

Total adjustments carried forward 6,240,267 8,062,978 (35,931,376) (24,331,373)

Statements of cash flows
For the financial year ended 31ST December 2014
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Statements of cash flows
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014 (Cont’d)

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Note RM RM RM RM

(Restated) (Restated)

Operating activities (Cont’d)

Total adjustments brought forward 6,240,267 8,062,978 (35,931,376) (24,331,373)

Impairment loss on trade receivables 10 1,235,253 1,596,335 - - 

Reversal of impairment loss on

  trade receivables 10 (1,118,702) (1,036,071) - - 

Inventories written off 10 197,583 191,409 - - 

Inventories written down 10 314,638 696,941 - - 

Reversal of inventories written down 10 (852,615) (840,965) - - 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain 8 (163,106) (324,486) (66,698) (352,294)

Total adjustments 5,853,318 8,346,141 (35,998,074) (24,683,667)

Operating cash flows before

  changes in working capital 51,477,409 48,961,460 (1,784,054) (1,419,354)

Changes in working capital

Inventories (3,614,884) (4,666,708) - - 

Receivables (17,857,052) (11,486,908) (18,898,209) (5,519,187)

Payables 16,294,066 4,517,127 (175,036) 319,187 

Total changes in working capital (5,177,870) (11,636,489) (19,073,245) (5,200,000)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 46,299,539 37,324,971 (20,857,299) (6,619,354)

Tax paid (11,294,450) (10,068,716) (302,399) (15,176)

Dividends received - - 34,140,000 20,480,000 

Net cash flows generated 

  from operating activities 35,005,089 27,256,255 12,980,302 13,845,470 
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Statements of cash flows
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014 (Cont’d)

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

Note RM RM RM RM
(Restated) (Restated)

Investing activities

Investment in a joint venture - (4,988,000) - - 

Investment in an associate (1,988,000) - (1,988,000) -

Dividends received from investment securities - 61,807 - - 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 16 (5,846,438) (36,851,118) (293,714) (176,985)

Purchase of investment properties 17 - (37,102) - - 

Purchases of intangible assets 18 (90,544) (36,000) - -

Proceeds from disposal of property, 

  plant and equipment 357,023 146,798 700 - 

Proceed from disposal of investment securities - 30,557,139 - - 

Proceed from disposal of AFS financial asset 4,334,800 - 4,334,800 - 

Interest received 929,879 478,402 1,142,127 886,281 

(Placement in)/withdrawal from

  short term deposit (6,142,241) 1,672,049 (6,142,241) 1,672,049 

Net cash flows (used in)/generated

  from investing activities (8,445,521) (8,996,025) (2,946,328) 2,381,345 

Financing activities

Dividends paid 15 (9,723,122) (13,354,658) (9,723,122) (13,354,658)

Interest paid (8,034) (42,752) - - 

Repayment of hire purchase payable (5,188) - - - 

Placement in long term investment 24 - (5,520,000) - (5,520,000)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (9,736,344) (18,917,410) (9,723,122) (18,874,658)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and

  cash equivalents 16,823,224 (657,180) 310,852 (2,647,843)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

  and cash equivalents 286,238 458,740 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 27,150,787 27,349,227 273,408 2,921,251 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31st December 28 44,260,249 27,150,787 584,260 273,408 



Annual report 2014                 71

1.	C orporate information

	 Apex Healthcare Berhad (“the Company”) is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in 
Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The principal place of business and 
registered office of the Company is located at 1-5, Jalan TTC 1, Cheng Industrial Estate, 75250 Melaka.

	 The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management services. The principal 
activities of the subsidiaries consist of manufacturing, distribution, marketing and retailing of pharmaceutical 
products. Other activities include property rental and management.

	 There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

	 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the 
directors on 17th March 2015.

2.	S ummary of significant accounting policies

2.1	B asis of preparation

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

	 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis unless otherwise indicate in the 
summary of accounting policies below.

	 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) except when otherwise indicated.

2.2	B asis of consolidation

	 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
as at the reporting date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies 
are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

	 The Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has all the following:

(i)	 Power over the investee (i.e existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee);

(ii)	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

(iii)   	The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

	 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, the Company considers the 
following in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power 
over the investee:

(i)	 The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 
other vote holders;

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014
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2.	S ummary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.2	B asis of consolidation (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

(iii)	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(iv)	 Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns 
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

	 Subsidiaries are consolidated when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains 
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

	 Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit balance.

	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over 
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. 
The resulting difference is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

	 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate 
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous 
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest, is recognised 
in profit or loss. The subsidiary’s cumulative gain or loss which has been recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss or where applicable, transferred directly to 
retained earnings. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date control is lost 
is regarded as the cost on initial recognition of the investment.

2.3	B usiness combinations and goodwill

	 Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. The Group elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis 
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Transaction costs incurred are expensed and included in 
administrative expenses.

	 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset 
or liability, will be recognised in accordance with MFRS 139 either in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured. 
Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does 
not fall within the scope of MFRS 139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate MFRS.

	 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by 
the acquiree.
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	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

	 Subsidiaries are consolidated using the acquisition method of accounting except for certain subsidiaries, as 
disclosed in Note 19, which were acquired prior to 1st January 2002 using the merger method of accounting. 
These subsidiaries continue to be accounted for using the merger method of accounting.

	
	 Under the merger method of accounting, the results of the subsidiaries are presented as if the companies had 

been combined throughout the current and previous financial years. Any difference between the consideration 
paid and the share capital of the acquired subsidiary is reflected within equity as merger reserve. The merger 
reserve has been subsequently set off against retained earnings.

	 Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and 
the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. If this consideration is lower than fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference 
is recognised in profit or loss. The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.8(a).

2.4	S ubsidiaries

	 A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has all the following:

(i)	 Power over the investee (i.e existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee);

(ii)	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

(iii)	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

	 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment 
losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying 
amounts is included in profit or loss.

2.5	I nvestment in an associate and a joint venture

	 An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 
those policies.

	 A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of 
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of 
the parties sharing control.

	 On acquisition of an investment in associate or joint venture, any excess of the cost of investment over the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as 
goodwill and included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee over the cost of investment is excluded from the 
carrying amount of the investment and is instead included as income in the determination of the Group’s share 
of the associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss for the period in which the investment is acquired.
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2.5	I nvestment in an associate and a joint venture (Cont’d) 

	 An associate or a joint venture is equity accounted for from the date on which the investee becomes an 
associate or a joint venture.

	 Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in an associate or a joint venture is recognised 
at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture after the date of acquisition. When the 
Group’s share of losses in an associate or a joint venture equal or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint 
venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

	 Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate 
or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’ 
interests in the associate or joint venture. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

	 The financial statements of the associates and joint ventures are prepared as of the same reporting date as 
the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the 
Group.

	 After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise impairment 
loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether 
there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such 
evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount 
of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss as “share of profit of an 
associate and a joint venture” in the statement of comprehensive income.

	 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted 
for at cost less impairment losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal 
proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in profit or loss.

2.6	F oreign currencies

(a)	F unctional and presentation currency

	 The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is also the Company’s functional 
currency.

(b)	F oreign currency transactions and balances

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group entities at their respective functional 
currency spot rate at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.

	 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.
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2.6	F oreign currencies (Cont’d) 

(b)	F oreign currency transactions and balances (Cont’d)

	 Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with 
the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of 
a foreign operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) until the net investment 
is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is classified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits 
attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive 
income.

	 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is 
treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value in the item (i.e., the translation 
differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised 
in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

(c)	 Group companies

	 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM at the rate of exchange prevailing 
at the reporting date and their statement of comprehensive income are translated at exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other 
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

2.7	R evenue recognition

	 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and to 
the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable.

(a)	S ale of goods

	 Revenue from sale of goods is recognised net of sales taxes and discounts upon the transfer of significant 
risk and rewards of ownership of the goods to the customer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent 
where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs 
or the possible return of goods.

(b)	R endering of services

	 Revenue from services rendered is recognised as and when the services are performed.

(c)	 Dividend income

	 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s and the Company’s right to receive payment is 
established.
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2.7	R evenue recognition (Cont’d) 

(d)	I nterest income

	 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(e)	R ental income

	 Rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. 
The aggregate costs of incentives provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over 
the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(f)	 Management service fees

	 Management service fees are recognised when services are rendered.

2.8	I ntangible assets

(a)	 Goodwill

	 Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

	 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is allocated, from the acquisition date, to each 
of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

	 The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying 
amount of the cash-generating unit, including the allocated goodwill, with the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the 
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised 
for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

	 Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-
generating unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in 
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. 
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the operations 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

(b)	O ther intangible assets

	 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination is their fair values as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

	 The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.
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2.8	I ntangible assets (Cont’d) 

(b)	O ther intangible assets (Cont’d)

	 Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated 
as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is 
recognised in profit or loss.

	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are not amortised, but are tested 
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of 
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. 
If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

	 Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognised.

	 Research and development cost

	 All research costs are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred.

(i)	T rademark

	 Trademark was acquired through business combinations. The useful life of trademark is estimated 
to be indefinite because based on the current market share of the trademark, management believes 
there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the trademark are expected to generate net 
cash flows to the Group. Trademark is stated at cost less any impairment losses. They are not 
amortised but tested for impairment annually or more frequently when indicators of impairment 
are identified.

(ii)	C omputer software

	 Software costs, considered to have finite useful lives, are stated at cost less any impairment losses 
and amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products 
not exceeding 5 years. Impairment is assessed whenever there is an indication of impairment and 
the amortisation period and method are also reviewed at least at each reporting date.

2.9	 Property, plant and equipment

	 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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2.9	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d) 

	 Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required 
to be replaced in intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives 
and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other 
repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Freehold land is measured at cost 
less any accumulated impairment losses.

	 Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Leasehold land are depreciated 
over the period of their respective lease term. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

	 Leasehold land	 38 - 88 years 
	 Buildings	 2 - 3% 
	 Plant, machinery and factory equipment	 10 - 15% 
	 Furniture, fittings and equipment	 10 - 33 1/3% 
	 Motor vehicles	 20% 
	 Renovation	 10 - 20%

	 Capital-in-progress included in plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available 
for use.

	 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

	 The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

	 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or 
loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.10  Investment properties

	 Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The 
investment properties are depreciated in accordance with that for property, plant and equipment as described 
in Note 2.9.

	 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any 
gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or loss in the 
year of retirement or disposal.

	 Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. Transfers between 
investment property, owner-occupied property and inventories do not change the carrying amount of the 
property transferred and they do not change the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure purpose.
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2.11  Impairment of non-financial assets
	
	 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 

such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes 
an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)). In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a 
CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those 
units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of 
units on a pro-rata basis.

	 Impairment losses including impairment on inventories, are recognised in profit or loss in those expense 
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

	 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased 
to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit 
or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase. Impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

2.12  Inventories

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

	 Cost is determined using the standard cost and the weighted average methods. The cost of raw materials 
comprises costs of purchase. The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress consists of raw materials, 
direct labour, other direct costs and appropriate proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal 
operating capacity. Standard cost approximates actual cost calculated on a weighted average basis.

	 Net realisable value is the estimate selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.13  Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks and short term deposits with a maturity 
of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the 
Group’s cash management.
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2.14  Financial assets

	 Financial assets are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group and the 
Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

	 When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial 
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

	 The Group and the Company determine the classification of their financial assets at initial recognition, and the 
categories include financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets.

(a)	F inancial assets at fair value through profit or loss

	 Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if they are held 
for trading or are designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets held for trading are 
derivatives (including separated embedded derivatives) or financial assets acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the near term.

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 
value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains 
or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss do not include exchange differences, 
interest and dividend income. Exchange differences, interest and dividend income on financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognised separately in profit or loss as part of other losses or other 
income.

	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss could be presented as current or non-current. 
Financial assets that is held primarily for trading purposes are presented as current whereas financial 
assets that is not held primarily for trading purposes are presented as current or non-current based on 
the settlement date.

(b)	L oans and receivables

	 Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables.

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

	 Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates later than 
12 months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current.

(c)	A vailable-for-sale financial assets

	 Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not 
classified in any of the two preceding categories.



Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014 (Cont’d)

Annual report 2014                 81

2.	S ummary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.14  Financial assets (Cont’d)

(c)	A vailable-for-sale financial assets (Cont’d)

	 After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or 
losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, 
except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and interest 
calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as 
a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. Interest income calculated using 
the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on an available-for-sale equity 
instrument are recognised in profit or loss when the Group and the Company’s right to receive payment 
is established.

	 Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost 
less impairment loss.

	 Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets unless they are expected to be 
realised within 12 months after the reporting date.

	 A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in profit or loss.

	 Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. All regular 
way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e., the date that 
the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset.

2.15  Impairment of financial assets

	 The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired.

(a)	T rade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost

	 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been 
incurred, the Group and the Company consider factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. For certain categories 
of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually 
are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. 
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s and the 
Company’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments 
in the portfolio past the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic 
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

	 If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.15  Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

(a)	T rade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost (Cont’d) 

	 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account. When a trade receivable becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account.

	 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its 
amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(b)	U nquoted equity securities carried at cost

	 If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where 
the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an 
impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured 
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment 
losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

(c)	A vailable-for-sale financial assets

	 Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer 
or obligor, and the disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to determine whether 
there is objective evidence that investment securities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are 
impaired.

	 If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its 
cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss 
previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to profit or loss.

	 Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in profit or loss in the 
subsequent periods. Increase in fair value, if any, subsequent to impairment loss is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently 
reversed in profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss in profit or loss.

2.16  Financial liabilities

	 Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and 
the definitions of a financial liability.

	 Financial liabilities are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group and 
the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are 
classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities.
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2.16  Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

(a)	F inancial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
		
	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 

financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
		
	 Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by the Group and the Company that 

do not meet the hedge accounting criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently stated at fair value, with any resultant gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. Net gains 
or losses on derivatives include exchange differences.

	
(b)	O ther financial liabilities

	 The Group’s and the Company’s other financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and 
loans and borrowings. 

	 Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

	 Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified 
as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the reporting date.

	 For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised, and through the amortisation process.		

			 
	 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing 

financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

2.17  Leases

	 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at the inception date. The arrangement is assessed for whether fulfillment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or 
assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

(a)	 Group as a lessee

	 Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the 
amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are charged to profit or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in 
which they are incurred.
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2.	S ummary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.17  Leases (Cont’d)

(a)	 Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

	 Leased assets are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. However, if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease term.

	 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of 
rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(b)	 Group as a lessor

	 Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases 
as rental income. The accounting policy for rental income is set out in Note 2.7(e).

2.18  Borrowing costs

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of 
the respective asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs 
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.19  Income taxes

(a)	C urrent income tax

	 Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

	 Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

(b)	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the 
reporting date.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

-	 where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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2.	S ummary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.19  Income taxes (Cont’d)

(b)	 Deferred tax (Cont’d)

-	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can 
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised except:

-	 where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

-	 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that 
it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting 
date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax assets to be recovered.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred 
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against 
goodwill on acquisition.

	 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority.

(c)	S ales tax

	 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax, except:

-	 where the sales tax incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense item as applicable; and

-	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

	 The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
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2.	S ummary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.20  Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the 
amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

	 Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is 
reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax 
rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase 
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance costs.

2.21  Employee benefits

(a)	S hort term benefits

	 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees. Short term accumulating compensated 
absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that 
increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating compensated 
absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

(b)	 Defined contribution plans

	 The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which 
it has operations. The Malaysian companies in the Group make contributions to the Employee Provident 
Fund in Malaysia, a defined contribution pension scheme. The Group’s foreign subsidiaries in the Republic 
of Singapore make contributions to their country’s Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). Contributions to 
defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related 
service is performed.

2.22  Non-current assets held for sale

	 Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that 
are usual and customary.

	 Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell.

2.23  Segment reporting

	 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and 
services which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the 
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the 
management of the Company who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the 
segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are 
shown in Note 41, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis 
of segment information.
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2.	S ummary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.24  Share capital and share issuance expenses

	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the 
Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments.

	 Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction 
costs. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the 
period in which they are declared.

2.25  Contingencies

	 A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose existence 
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly within the 
control of the Group.

	 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group.

3.	S ignificant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

	 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates, and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities at the reporting date. 
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

3.1	 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

	 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements:

(a)	C lassification between investment properties and property, plant and equipment

	 The Group has developed certain criteria based on MFRS 140 in making judgement whether a property 
qualifies as an investment property. Investment property is a property held to earn rental or for capital 
appreciation or both.

	 Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital appreciation and another 
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. 
If these portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the Group 
would account for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an 
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine 
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property.
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3.	S ignificant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)

3.1	 Judgements made in applying accounting policies (Cont’d)

(b)	O perating lease commitments – as lessor

	 The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties. The commercial 
properties combined leases of land and buildings. At the inception of the lease, it was not possible to 
obtain a reliable estimate of the split of the fair values of the lease interest between the land and the 
buildings. Therefore, the Group evaluated based on terms and conditions of the arrangement, whether 
the land and the buildings were clearly operating leases or finance leases. The Group assessed the 
following:

(i)	 The land titles do not pass to the Group, and

(ii)	 The rentals paid to the landlord for the commercial properties are increased to the market rent at 
regular intervals, and the Group does not participate in the residual value of the building.

	 Management judged that the Group retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 
properties, thus accounted for the contracts as operating leases.

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)	I mpairment of trademark

	 The Group determines whether the trademark is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an 
estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-generating units (“CGU”) to which the trademark is allocated. 
Estimating a value-in-use amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash 
flows from the CGU and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of 
those cash flows. The carrying amount of the trademark as at 31st December 2014 is RM1,075,850 (2013: 
RM1,075,200). Further details are disclosed in Note 18.

(b)	U seful lives of plant and equipment

	 The cost of plant and equipment for the manufacture of pharmaceutical products is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated economic useful lives. Management estimates the useful 
lives of these plant and equipment to be within 7 to 10 years. These are common life expectancies applied 
in the pharmaceutical industry. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments 
could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future 
depreciation charges could be revised. The carrying amount of the Group’s plant and equipment at the 
reporting date is disclosed in Note 16.

(c)	I mpairment of loans and receivables

	 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers 
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default 
or significant delay in payment.
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3.	S ignificant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(c)	I mpairment of loans and receivables (Cont’d) 

	 Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are 
estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s loans and receivables at reporting date is disclosed in Note 23.

(d)	 Deferred tax assets

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based on the likely 
timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

	 Assumptions about generation of future taxable profits depend on management’s estimates of future 
cash flows. These depends on estimates of future production and sales volume, operating costs, capital 
expenditure, dividends and other capital management transactions. Judgement is also required about 
application of income tax legislation. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risks and 
uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which 
may impact the amount of deferred tax assets recognised in the statements of financial position and the 
amount of unrecognised tax losses and unrecognised temporary differences. 

	 The carrying value of deferred tax assets of the Group at 31st December 2014 was RM168,000 (2013: 
RM376,000) and the unrecognised tax losses at 31st December 2014 was RM187,500 (2013: RM115,487).

(e)	T axes

	 Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and the amount and 
timing of future taxable income. Given the differences arising between the actual results and the 
assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to 
tax provisions already recorded. The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for 
possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. 
The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and 
differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the relevant tax authority.

(f)	 Provision for liabilities

	 The Group reviews provision for liabilities at each reporting date and adjusts the provision to reflect the 
current best estimate. Provision for employee benefits expense in respect of performance bonuses and 
incentive trip are recognised after taking into consideration of the following:

(i) 	 Present obligation as at the reporting date based on the performance of the Group as at reporting 
date and the past trend of actual payment; and

(ii) 	 The best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation as at the reporting 
date.
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3.	S ignificant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)

3.2	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(g)	 Write down of inventories

	 The Group reviews at each reporting date for excess inventory and obsolescence. Inventories are written 
down to reflect the current net realisable value, which represent the management’s estimation of the 
value recoverable through sale. The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories at reporting date is 
disclosed in Note 25.

4.	C hanges in accounting policies

	 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:

	 On 1st January 2014, the Group and the Company adopted the following new and amended MFRSs and IC 
Interpretation mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1st January 2014.

	E ffective for annual 
	 periods beginning
Description	 on or after

Amendments to MFRS 132: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities	 1st January 2014
Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 127: Investment Entities	 1st January 2014
Amendments to MFRS 136: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets	 1st January 2014
Amendments to MFRS 139: Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting	 1st January 2014
IC Interpretation 21 Levies	 1st January 2014

	 The nature and impact of the new and amended MFRSs and IC Interpretation are described below:

	 Amendments to MFRS 132: Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

	 The amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and “simultaneous 
realisation and settlement”. These amendments are to be applied retrospectively. These amendments have no 
impact on the Group, since none of the entities in the Group has any offsetting arrangements.

	 Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 127: Investment entities

	 These amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an 
investment entity under MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and must be applied retrospectively, subject 
to certain transition relief. The exception to consolidation requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at 
fair value through profit or loss.  These amendments have no impact on the Group, since none of the entities in the 
Group qualifies to be an investment entity under MFRS 10.

	 Amendments to MFRS 136: Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets

	 The amendments to MFRS 136 remove the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of a cash-generating 
unit (“CGU”) to which goodwill or other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives has been allocated when there 
has been no impairment or reversal of impairment of the related CGU. In addition, the amendments introduce 
additional disclosure requirements when the recoverable amount is measured at fair value less costs of disposal. 
These new disclosures include the fair value hierarchy, key assumptions and valuation techniques used which are in 
line with the disclosure required by MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements.

	 The application of these amendments has had no material impact on the disclosures in the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial statements.
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4.	C hanges in accounting policies (Cont’d)

	 Amendments to MFRS 139: Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting

	 These amendments provide relief from the requirement to discontinue hedge accounting when a derivative 
designated as a hedging instrument is novated under certain circumstances. The amendments also clarify that any 
change to the fair value of the derivative designated as a hedging instrument arising from the novation should be 
included in the assessment and measure of hedge effectiveness. Retrospective application is required.

	 These amendments have no impact on the Group as the Group does not have any derivatives that are subject to 
novation.

	 IC Interpretation 21 Levies

	 IC 21 defines a levy and clarifies that the obligating event which gives rise to the liability is the activity that triggers the 
payment of the levy, as identified by legislation. For a levy which is triggered upon reaching a minimum threshold, IC 
21 clarifies that no liability should be recognised before the specified minimum threshold is reached. Retrospective 
application is required. The application of IC 21 has had no material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts 
recognised in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements.

5.	S tandards issued but not yet effective

	 The standards and interpretations that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s 
and the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group and the Company intend to adopt these 
standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

	E ffective for annual 
	 periods beginning
Description	 on or after

Amendments to MFRS 119: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions	 1st July 2014
Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2010 – 2012 Cycle	 1st July 2014
Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2011 – 2013 Cycle	 1st July 2014
Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2012 – 2014 Cycle	 1st January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 138: Clarification of Acceptable
  Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation	 1st January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 141: Agriculture: Bearer Plants	 1st January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or Contribution of
  Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture	 1st January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of
  Interests in Joint Operations	 1st January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 127: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements	 1st January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 101: Disclosure Initiatives	 1st January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 128: Investment
  Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception	 1st January 2016
MFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts	 1st January 2016
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers	 1st January 2017
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments	 1st January 2018
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5.	S tandards issued but not yet effective (Cont’d)

	 The directors expect that the adoption of the above standards and interpretations will have no material impact on 

the financial statements in the period of initial application except as discussed below:

	 Amendments to MFRS 101: Disclosure initiatives

	 The amendments to MFRS 101 include narrow-focus improvements in the following five areas:

•	 Materiality

•	 Disaggregation and subtotals

•	 Notes structure

•	 Disclosure of accounting policies

•	 Presentation of items of other comprehensive income arising from equity accounted investments

	 The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have a material 

impact on the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements.

	 MFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

	 MFRS 15 establishes a new five-step models that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. 

MFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including MFRS 118 Revenue, MFRS 111 

Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

	 The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue which depict the transfer of promised 

goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 

entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

	 Under MFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e when “control” 

of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

	 Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 

2017 with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of MFRS 15 and plans to adopt 

the new standard on the required effective date.

	 MFRS 9 Financial instruments

	 In November 2014, MASB issued the final version of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects all phases of the 

financial instruments project and replaces MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and 

all previous versions of MFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, 

impairment and hedge accounting. MFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January 

2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is not 

compulsory. The adoption of MFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s 

financial assets, but no impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities.
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6.	R evenue

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

RM RM RM RM

Sale of pharmaceutical products 498,888,249 418,117,514 - - 
Rental income from investment properties 349,169 333,336 - - 
Dividend income from subsidiaries - - 34,140,000 23,490,000
Management service fees from subsidiaries - - 2,302,368 2,088,210

499,237,418 418,450,850 36,442,368 25,578,210

7.	C ost of sales/services rendered

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

RM RM RM RM

Cost of goods sold on pharmaceutical products 382,848,155 312,626,429 - - 
Direct cost arising from investment properties   

that generated rental income 274,492 261,175 - - 
Cost relating to rendering of management 

services - - 2,057,720 1,697,148

383,122,647 312,887,604 2,057,720 1,697,148

8.	O ther income

	 Included in other income are the following:

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Interest income on:
	   - advances to subsidiaries	 -	 -	 647,648	 551,919
	   - advances to an associate	 188,630	 -	 25,274	 -
	   - short term deposits	 741,249	 478,402	 469,205	 334,362 
	 Fair value adjustments on interest free loan	 -	 -	 269,139	 - 
	 Rental receivable from operating leases,
	   other than those relating to investment properties	 989,573	 435,832	 -	 - 
	 Gain on disposal of AFS financial assets	 406,594	 -	 464,710	 - 
	 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 306,227	 77,156	 -	 - 
	 Fair value gains on financial instruments:
	   - financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	 -	 63,138	 -	 -
	   - derivatives (Note 27)	 149,871	 16,436	 -	 - 
	 Dividend income from investment securities	 -	 61,807	 -	 - 
	 Net gain on foreign exchange:
	   - realised	 245,837	 46,568	 -	 -
	   - unrealised	 163,106	 324,486	 66,698	 352,294
	 Product development fee	  156,000    	 420,000 	 -	 -
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9.	F inance costs

Group
2014 	 2013

RM RM

Interest expense on:
- bank overdraft 6,573 33,626
- bankers’ acceptance - 9,126
- hire purchase payable 1,461 -

8,034 42,752

10.	 Profit before tax

	 The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax:				  
	
		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Auditors’ remuneration				  
	   - current year	 272,339	 220,500	 62,000	 51,000
	   - over provision in respect of previous year	 (509)	 -	 -	 - 
	 Employee benefits expense (Note 11)	 47,109,985	 41,024,088	 1,558,970	 1,190,148
	 Directors’ fees (Note 12)
	   - executive director	 63,000	 63,000	 63,000	 63,000
	   - non-executive directors	 435,750	 444,000	 435,750	 444,000
	 Consulting fees paid to a director	 180,000	 180,000	 180,000	 180,000
	 Property, plant and equipment
	   - depreciation (Note 16)	 8,797,252	 7,682,811	 83,555	 43,725
	   - written off	 2,024	 12,747	 5	 1,183
	 Depreciation of investment properties (Note 17)	 83,755	 72,717	 -	  - 
	 Intangible assets
	   - amortisation (Note 18)	 59,420	 43,677	 -	 -
	   - written off                                               	 1	 -	 -	 - 
	 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 -	 -	 1,040	 - 
	 Loss on disposal of intangible assets	 -	 3	 -	 - 
	 Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments	 -	 8,974	 -	 - 
	 Realised loss on foreign exchange  	 3,025	 64,034	 - 	 - 
	 Rental expenses	 1,583,092	 1,818,900	 439,440	 330,600
	 Research and development cost	 1,096,110	 1,124,631 	 -	 - 
	 Impairment loss on trade receivables (Note 23)	 1,235,253	 1,596,335 	 -	 - 
	 Bad debts recovered	 (6,198)       	 (55)             	  -      	 - 
	 Reversal of impairment loss on trade 
	   receivables (Note 23)	 (1,118,702)	 (1,036,071)   	 -	 - 
	 Reversal of inventories written down (Note 25)	 (852,615)	 (840,965)     	 -      	 - 
	 Inventories written off	 197,583	 191,409 	 -   	 - 
	 Inventories written down	 314,638 	 696,941	  -     	 - 
	 Impairment loss on investment 
	   properties (Note 17)	 - 	 118,766    	 - 	 -
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11.	Emp loyee benefits expense

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

RM RM RM RM

Wages, salaries and social security contributions 40,914,877 35,648,776 1,219,725 925,102

Contributions to defined contribution plans 5,396,484 4,660,203 221,158 166,307

Other benefits 798,624 715,109 118,087 98,739

47,109,985 41,024,088 1,558,970 1,190,148

	 Included in employee benefit expense of the Group and of the Company are executive director’s remuneration 
other than director’s fees and benefits-in-kind amounting to RM2,051,122 and RM552,968 (2013: RM1,896,248 and 
RM243,170) respectively.

12.	 Directors’ remuneration

	 The details of remuneration receivable by directors of the Company during the year are as follows:

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Executive director:
	   - fees (Note 10)	 63,000	 63,000	 63,000	 63,000
	   - salaries and other emoluments	 674,256	 652,260	 102,360	 102,360
	   - bonus	 1,238,358	 1,151,602	 368,268	 107,927
	   - defined contribution plans	 138,508	 92,386	 82,340	 32,883

	 Total executive director’s remuneration
	   (excluding benefits-in-kind)  	 2,114,122	 1,959,248	 615,968	 306,170
	   - benefits-in-kind	 52,949	 46,310	 52,949	 46,310

	 Total executive director’s remuneration
	   (including benefits-in-kind)   	 2,167,071    	 2,005,558	 668,917	 352,480

	 Non-executive directors:
	   - fees (Note 10)	 435,750	 444,000	 435,750	 444,000
	   - other emoluments	 251,881	 242,262	 251,881	 242,262

		  687,631	 686,262	 687,631	 686,262
	   - benefits-in-kind	 52,970	 58,231	 17,810	 21,837 

	 Total non-executive directors’ remuneration	  740,601    	 744,493    	 705,441    	 708,099 

	 Total directors’ remuneration  	 2,907,672    	 2,750,051    	 1,374,358    	 1,060,579 
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12.	 Directors’ remuneration (Cont’d)

	 The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the financial year fell within the following 
bands is analysed below:

		N  umber of directors
		  2014	 2013

	 Executive director:
	 RM2,000,001 - RM2,050,000	 -	 1
	 RM2,150,001 - RM2,200,000	 1	 -

	N on-executive directors:
	 RM50,001 - RM100,000	 3	 4
	 RM100,001 - RM150,000	 2	 1
	 RM250,001 - RM300,000	  1    	 1 

13. Income tax expense

Major components of income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31st December 2014 and 2013 are:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

RM RM RM RM

Statement of comprehensive income:
Current income tax:

- Malaysian income tax 11,474,990 10,245,891 329,426 3,146,659 
- Foreign tax 334,488 167,338 - - 
- Under/(over) provision in respect of

  previous years 23,922 (215,389) (3,105) (23,306)

11,833,400 10,197,840 326,321 3,123,353 

Deferred tax (Note 22):
  - Relating to origination and reversal

  of temporary differences (219,788) 339,435 - -
  - Under/(over) provision in respect of

  previous year 33,302 (44,449) - - 

(186,486) 294,986 - -

Income tax expense recognised in 
  profit or loss 11,646,914 10,492,826 326,321 3,123,353 
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13. Income tax expense (Cont’d)

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit

The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable corporate 
tax rate for the years ended 31st December 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

2014 2013

RM RM

Group

Profit before tax 45,624,091 40,615,319 

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%) 11,406,023 10,153,830 

Different tax rates in other countries (194,842) (70,395)

Adjustments:

Share of results of a joint venture 20,730 (194,368)

Share of results of an associate 208,682 - 

Income not subject to taxation (556,447) (67,158)

Non-deductible expenses 794,881 1,150,105 

Deferred tax assets not recognised in respect of 

  deductible temporary differences 20,330 5,925 

Double deduction for tax purposes (109,667) (225,275)

Under/(over) provision of income tax in respect of previous year 23,922 (215,389)

Under/(over) provision of deferred tax in respect of previous year 33,302 (44,449)

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 11,646,914 10,492,826 

Company

Profit before tax 34,214,020 23,264,313 

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%) 8,553,505 5,816,078 

Adjustments:

Income not subject to taxation (8,803,619) (2,978,398)

Non-deductible expenses 579,540 308,979 

Over provision of income tax in prior years (3,105) (23,306)

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 326,321 3,123,353 

Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%) of the estimated assessable 
profit for the year. 

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. 
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14.	B asic earnings per share

	 Basic earnings per share amount is calculated by dividing profit for the year, net of tax, attributable to owners of the 
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

	 The comparative figure of weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue of 93,716,875 of RM1.00 each as 
previously reported was restated to 117,146,093 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each as if the Bonus Issue had taken 
place at the earliest date presented.

	 The following reflect the profit and share data used in the computation of basic earnings per share for the years 
ended 31st December:

		  Group
		  2014	 2013

	 Profit net of tax attributable to owners of the parent used in the computation 
	   of basic earnings per share (RM)	  33,864,277	 30,021,658

	 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue	 117,146,093	 117,146,093

	 Basic earnings per share (sen)	 28.91	 25.63 

	 The Company does not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares. Accordingly, the diluted earnings per share is not 
presented.
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15.	 Dividends	

		  2014	 2013	
		  Dividend	A mount of	 Dividend	A mount of
		  per share	 dividend	 per share	 dividend
		  net of tax	 net of tax	 net of tax	 net of tax
		S  en	R M	S en	R M

	 In respect of financial year ended 
	   31st December 2014:

	   - Interim single-tier dividend of 3.5 sen 
	     per share on 117,146,093 ordinary shares	 3.50	 4,100,111	 -	 -

	 In respect of financial year ended
	   31st December 2013:

	   - Final single-tier dividend of 6.0 sen per share 
	    on 93,716,875 ordinary shares	 6.00	 5,623,011	 -	 -

	   - Interim single-tier dividend of 4.0 sen per share 
	     on 93,716,875 ordinary shares	 -	 -	 4.00	 3,748,675

	 In respect of financial year ended
			  31st December 2012:
				   - Final dividend of 3.0 sen gross per share less 
				      25% tax on 93,716,875 ordinary shares	 -	 -	 2.25	 2,108,633
				   - Final tax-exempt dividend of 3.0 sen per share 
	         on 93,716,875 ordinary shares	 -	 -	 3.00	 2,811,506
				   - Special tax-exempt dividend of 5.0 sen 
				      per share on 93,716,875 ordinary shares	 -	 -	 5.00	 4,685,844

		  9.50	 9,723,122	 14.25	 13,354,658

	 At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a final single-tier dividend of 6.0 sen per share in respect of the 
financial year ended 31st December 2014, on 117,146,093 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of 
RM7,028,766 will be proposed for shareholders’ approval. The financial statements for the current financial year do 
not reflect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in equity as 
an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31st December 2015.
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16.	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Furniture,
fittings and
equipment

Company RM

Cost
At 1st January 2013 384,900 
Additions 176,985 
Written off (34,719)
At 31st December 2013 527,166 
Additions 293,714 
Disposals (2,400)
Written off (8,999)

At 31st December 2014 809,481 

Accumulated depreciation
At 1st January 2013 208,842 
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 10) 43,725 
Written off (33,536)
At 31st December 2013 219,031 
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 10) 83,555 
Disposals (660)
Written off (8,994)

At 31st December 2014 292,932 

Net carrying amount
At 31st December 2014 516,549 

At 31st December 2013 308,135 

(a)	 The Group’s freehold land and building with a carrying amount of RM Nil (2013: RM4,664,223) are mortgaged 
to secure the Group’s undrawn banking facilities.

(b)	 Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment were financed as follows:

		  Group
		  2014	 2013
		R  M	R M

	 Cash	 5,846,438	 36,851,118
	 Hire purchase	 48,781	 -

		  5,895,219	 36,851,118
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16.	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

(c)	 The carrying amount of furniture, fittings and equipment held under finance leases at the reporting date were 
RM39,024 (2013: RM Nil).

(d) 	 During the financial year, the Group transferred one unit of one and a half storey terraced factory and one unit 
of warehouse from freehold land and buildings to investment properties amounting to RM5,000,154.

17.	I nvestment properties

		  Group
		  2014	 2013
		R  M	R M

	 Cost 
	 At beginning of financial year	 3,663,682	 3,626,580
	 Additions	 -	 37,102
	 Transfers from property, plant and equipment (Note 16)	  5,470,859	 - 
	 Reclassified as held for sale (Note 29)                              	 (2,690,000)     	 - 
	 Exchange differences                                                                  	  98,093          	 - 

	 At end of financial year                                                            	 6,542,634    	 3,663,682

	 Accumulated depreciation and impairment
	 At beginning of financial year                                                          	 335,083     	 143,600
	 Depreciation charge for the financial year (Note 10)                         	  83,755       	  72,717
	 Impairment (Note 10)                                                                                 	 -     	 118,766
	 Transfers from property, plant and equipment (Note 16)            	 470,705            	 - 
	 Reclassified as held for sale (Note 29)                                      	 (210,717)              	 - 
	 Exchange differences                                                                    	 9,109     	  - 

	 At end of financial year                                                 	 687,935    	 335,083

	 Net carrying amount                                                              	  5,854,699	 3,328,599

	
	 Fair value measurement hierarchy for investment properties is as follows:
		
				F    air value 
				    measurement 
				    using significant 
				    unobservable
				    inputs 
		V  aluation method	 Date of valuation	 (Level 3)
				R    M

	 As at 31st December 2014
	 Commercial properties	 Comparison method	 31st December 2014	 1,500,000 
	
	 Warehouse	 Comparison method	 20th January 2015	 10,865,000
	
	 As at 31st December 2013		
	 Commercial properties	 Comparison method	 13th December 2013	 3,450,000  
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17.	I nvestment properties (Cont’d)

	 The properties are valued by reference to transactions of similar properties in surrounding with adjustments made 
for differences in location, terrain, size and shape of the land, tenure, title restrictions, if any and other relevant 
characteristics.

	 The Group’s investment properties with a carrying amount of RM4,716,199 (2013: RM Nil) are mortgaged to secure 
the Group’s undrawn banking facilities.

	 During the financial year, the Group has reclassified 2 units of retail premises amounting to RM2,479,283 (2013: RM 
Nil) to assets classified as held for sale as disclosed in Note 29.

18. 	I ntangible assets

			C   omputer
		T  rademark	 software	T otal
		R  M	R M	R M

	 Group 

	C ost
	 At 1st January 2013	 1,073,900	 2,311,343	 3,385,243
	 Additions	 -	 36,000	 36,000
	 Disposals	 -	  (3,600)	 (3,600) 
	 Exchange differences	 1,300	 25,306	 26,606

	 At 31st December 2013	 1,075,200	 2,369,049	 3,444,249
	 Additions	 -	 90,544	 90,544
	 Written off	 -	 (64,813)	 (64,813) 

Exchange differences	 650	 8,435	 9,085

	 At 31st December 2014	 1,075,850	 2,403,215	 3,479,065

	A ccumulated amortisation
	 At 1st January 2013	 -	 2,188,465	 2,188,465
	 Amortisation (Note 10)	 -	 43,677	 43,677
	 Disposals	 -	  (3,597)	 (3,597) 
	 Exchange differences	 -	 25,304	 25,304

	 At 31st December 2013	 -	 2,253,849	 2,253,849
	 Amortisation (Note 10)	 -	 59,420	 59,420
	 Written off	 -	 (64,812)	 (64,812) 

Exchange differences	 -	 8,435	 8,435

	 At 31st December 2014	 -	 2,256,892	 2,256,892

	 Net carrying amount
	 At 31st December 2014	  1,075,850 	 146,323	 1,222,173 

	 At 31st December 2013	  1,075,200 	 115,200 	 1,190,400 
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18. 	I ntangible assets (cont’d) 

	 Impairment tests for trademark

	 The intangible assets relating to trademark arose as a result of the acquisition of a subsidiary, Apex Pharma 
Marketing Pte. Ltd. (“APS”) in prior years, where a fair value was ascribed to the AGNESIA trademark and all other 
intellectual property rights in relation to the AGNESIA trademark based on a valuation carried out by management 
as at 31st December 2005. APS operates in Singapore and its principal activity is as disclosed in Note 19. The 
management reviews the recoverable amount of the trademark on a yearly basis.

	 Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations

	 The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations using the royalty relief 
method. This method discounts to present value the estimated future royalties that would be payable for its use 
were it owned by a third party net of direct expenses necessarily incurred in connection with the trademark. The 
estimated future royalties have been derived based on projected revenue arising from sale of products marketed 
under the trademark approved by management covering a five-year period. The key assumptions used for value-in- 
use calculations are:

		  2014	 2013
		  %	 %

	 Royalties rate
	   - Local market	 10.0	 10.0
	   - Foreign market	 2.0	 2.0
	 Growth rate	 3.0	 3.0
	 Discount rate	  11.0	 11.0 

	 The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake 
impairment testing of trademark:

(i)	R oyalties rate

	 The royalty rate is based on a range for each application of the brand by reviewing comparable licensing 
agreements and industry royalty rates.

(ii)	 Growth rate

	 The management believes that the growth rates used are appropriate for the business segments in which 
the entity operates after considering the marketability, control and size and diversity factors relating to the 
product.

(iii)	 Discount rate

	 The discount rate used reflects specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

	 Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

	 With regards to the assessment of value-in-use, management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of 
the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the CGU to materially exceed its recoverable amount.



Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014 (Cont’d)

106	 Apex healthcare berhad (473108-T)

19. 	I nvestment in subsidiaries

		C  ompany
		  2014	 2013
		R  M	R M

	 Unquoted shares, at cost	 56,377,940	 56,377,940

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of companies

Country of 
incorporation/
principal place

of business
Principal
activities

% of 
ownership

interest held by 
the Group *

% of 
ownership

interest held by 
non-controlling 

interest
2014 2013 2014 2013

% % % %
Held by the Company

Xepa-Soul Pattinson Malaysia Manufacturing and 100 100 - - 
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. + marketing of

pharmaceutical products

Apex Pharmacy Malaysia Marketing and 100 100 - -  
Marketing Sdn. Bhd. + distribution of 

pharmaceutical products

ABio Marketing Malaysia Marketing and 100 100 - - 
Sdn. Bhd. + distribution of 

healthcare products
  
Apex Pharmacy Malaysia Property rental 100 100 - - 

Corporate Sdn. Bhd. and management

Apex Retail Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Retailing of 100 100 - - 
pharmaceutical products

Apex Pharma Marketing Singapore Marketing and distribution 100 100 - -  
Pte. Ltd. ^ of pharmaceutical

products

Avex Pharmaceuticals Singapore Brands management 100 100 -  -  
Pte. Ltd. ^ and development 

of pharmaceutical and
healthcare products

First SGC Pte. Ltd. ^ Singapore Investment holding 100 100 - -  
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19. Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Name of companies

Country of 
incorporation/
principal place

of business
Principal
activities

% of 
ownership

interest held by 
the Group *

% of 
ownership

interest held by 
non-controlling 

interest
2014 2013 2014 2013

% % % %
Subsidiary of

Xepa-Soul Pattinson
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Xepa-Soul Pattinson Singapore Marketing and distribution 100 100 - -  
(S) Pte. Ltd. ^ of pharmaceutical

products

Subsidiary of Apex
Retail Sdn. Bhd.

CS Health Store Malaysia Retailing of 60 60 40 40 
Sdn. Bhd. pharmaceutical products

+  	 Consolidated using merger accounting.
^   	 Audited by member firms of Ernst & Young Global in the respective countries.
*   	 Equals to the proportion of voting rights held.

	 The non-controlling interest in respect of CS Health Store Sdn. Bhd. is not material to the Group.

20. 	I nvestment in a joint venture

	 On 18th January 2013, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, ABio Marketing Sdn. Bhd. (“ABio Marketing”) 
completed its acquisition of 40% equity representing 2,000,000 ordinary shares in ABio Orthopaedics Sdn. Bhd. (“AO”) 
for a total consideration of RM4,988,000. The total consideration was settled using funds advanced by the Company 
to ABio Marketing as disclosed in Note 23. Under the contractual arrangement, unanimous consent is required from 
all parties to the agreement to direct the activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement.

	 The joint arrangement is structured via a separate entity and provide the Group with the rights to the net assets of 
the entity under the arrangement. Accordingly, this entity is classified as a joint venture of the Group.

	 Details of the joint venture are as follows:

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation/
principal place

of business

% of 
ownership

interest held by 
the Group *

Accounting 
model applied

2014 2013
% %

ABio Orthopaedics Sdn. Bhd. # Malaysia - 40 Equity method

* 	 Equals to the proportion of voting rights held.
# 	 Audited by a firm of auditors other than Ernst & Young.
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20. 	I nvestment in a joint venture (Cont’d)

	 The joint venture has the same reporting period as the Group. No quoted market prices are available for the shares 
of AO as the company is a private limited company.

	 AO is a contract manufacturer of surgical grade orthopaedics devices, components and instruments for multinational 
orthopaedics companies.

	 On 20th November 2014, ABio Marketing had entered into a share swap agreement with November Union Sdn. Bhd. 
(“November Union”) and Straits Apex Sdn. Bhd. (“Straits Apex”), whereby ABio Marketing and November Union shall 
transfer their respective entire 40% (representing 2,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each) and 60% (representing 
3,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each) equity interest in AO to Straits Apex, an associate of the Company (Note 
21). In return, Straits Apex issued 2,000,000 and 3,000,000 ordinary shares to ABio Marketing and November Union, 
respectively as consideration for the share swap. These transactions are collectively referred to as Share Swap 
Arrangement.

21.   Investment in an associate

	 On 29th September 2014, the Company completed its acquisition of 40% equity representing 8,000 ordinary shares 
in Straits Apex, a newly incorporated company, for a total consideration of RM1,988,000, of which RM1,980,000 is 
the share premium. The remaining 60% equity interest in Straits Apex is held by November Union. Straits Apex has 
subsequently issued a total of 1,980,000 bonus shares to both the Company and November Union from its share 
premium account in accordance with their proportionate shareholdings in Straits Apex.

	 As disclosed in Note 20, following the Share Swap Arrangement, 2,000,000 shares held by ABio Marketing in Straits 
Apex was transferred to the Company in consideration for the full settlement of debt owing to the Company of 
RM4,988,000.

Company
2014 2013

RM RM

Unquoted shares, at cost 6,976,000 -
Fair value adjustments on interest free loan 269,139 -

7,245,139 -

(a)	 Details of the associate are as follows:

Name of company

Country of 
incorporation/
principal place

of business

% of 
ownership

interest held by 
the Group *

Accounting 
model applied

2014 2013
% %

Straits Apex Sdn. Bhd. # Malaysia 40 - Equity method
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21.   Investment in an associate (Cont’d)

(a)	 Details of the associate are as follows: (Cont’d)

Name of companies

Country of 
incorporation/
principal place

of business

% of 
ownership

interest held by 
Straits Apex *

2014 2013
% %

Subsidiaries of Straits Apex Sdn. Bhd.

ABio Orthopaedics Sdn. Bhd. # Malaysia 100 -

Straits Orthopaedics (Mfg) Sdn. Bhd. # Malaysia 87.36 -

* 	 Equals to the proportion of voting rights held.
# 	 Audited by a firm of auditors other than Ernst & Young.

	 Straits Apex and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as SA Group. The associate has the same reporting 
period as the Group. No quoted market prices are available for the shares of Straits Apex as the company is a 
private limited company. Straits Apex is an investment holding company.

	 AO is currently a sub-contractor of Straits Orthopaedics (Mfg) Sdn. Bhd. performing orthopaedics subcontracting 
works primarily in the areas of trauma, instrumentation and spine.

(b)	 Summarised financial information of Straits Apex is set out below. The summarised information represents 
the amounts in the financial statements of the associate and not the Group’s share of the amounts.

(i)	 Summarised statement of financial position

		  2014
		  RM

	 Non-current asset	 50,125,206
	 Current assets	 26,771,073

	 Total assets	 76,896,279

	 Non-current liabilities	 18,675,409
	 Current liabilities	 50,721,485

	 Total liabilities	 69,396,894

	 Net assets	 7,499,385

	 Equity attributable to:
	 Owners of the associated company	 7,379,385
	 Non-controlling interest of the associated company	 120,000

		  7,499,385
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21.   Investment in an associate (Cont’d)

(b)	 Summarised financial information of Straits Apex is set out below. The summarised information represents 
the amounts in the financial statements of the associate and not the Group’s share of the amounts. (Cont’d) 

(ii)	 Summarised statement of comprehensive income

		  2014
		  RM

	 Revenue	 40,344,257
	 Profit before tax	 3,536,275
	 Profit after tax, representing total comprehensive income	 379,385

(c)	 Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the carrying amount of the Group’s 
interest in associate.

		  2014
		  RM

	 Net assets of SA Group as at 1st October after fair value adjustments	 2,642,349
	 Interest in associate	 40%

		  1,056,940
	 Add: Goodwill on acquisition of SA Group (before Share Swap Arrangement)	 931,060 

		  1,988,000

	 Add:	Group’s carrying amount of AO as at 20th November 2014 
	   	   (previously accounted for as a joint venture now transferred to Straits Apex 
	  	   via the Share Swap Arrangement)	 4,293,448
	 Add:	Post acquisition results of SA Group	 834,730

		  7,116,178
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22. 	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred income tax as at 31st December relates to the following:

As at
1st January 

2013

Recognised 
in profit 

or loss 
(Note 13)

As at
31st

 December
2013

Recognised 
in profit 

or loss 
(Note 13) 

Exchange 
differences

As at
31st 

December 
2014

Group RM RM RM RM RM RM

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment 4,668,077 (134,866) 4,533,211 (289,423) 1,038 4,244,826
Revaluation surplus of 

property, plant and 
equipment/investment 
properties 1,874,358 (76,399) 1,797,959 (38,783) - 1,759,176

6,542,435 (211,265) 6,331,170 (328,206) 1,038 6,004,002

Deferred tax assets:
Provisions (1,460,978) 506,251 (954,727) 141,720 - (813,007)

5,081,457 294,986 5,376,443 (186,486) 1,038 5,190,995

	  	  	  	  	  	  	
	 Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows:

Group
2014

RM
2013

RM

Deferred tax assets (168,000) (376,000)
Deferred tax liabilities 5,358,995 5,752,443

5,190,995 5,376,443

	 Tax consequences of proposed dividends 

	 There are no income tax consequences attached to the dividends to the shareholders proposed by the Company but 
not recognised as a liability in the financial statements (Note 15).

	 Deferred tax assets not recognised

	 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Group
2014

RM
2013

RM

Unused tax losses 187,500 115,487
Unutilised capital allowances 61,291 51,985
Other deductible temporary differences 4,829 4,829

253,620 172,301
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22. 	 Deferred tax (Cont’d)

	 Unrecognised tax losses

	 At the reporting date, the Group has tax losses of approximately RM187,500 (2013: RM115,487) that are available for 
offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose, for which no deferred tax asset is 
recognised due to uncertainty of its recoverability. The availability of unused tax losses for offsetting against future 
taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries in Malaysia are subject to no substantial changes in shareholdings of 
those subsidiaries under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and guidelines issued by the tax authority. The use of tax losses 
of subsidiaries in other jurisdictions is subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain 
provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the subsidiaries operate.

23. 	R eceivables

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Current
	 Trade receivables
	 Third parties	 111,843,247	 100,812,128	 -	 - 
	 Less: Allowance for impairment	 (2,082,051)	  (2,434,607)	 -	 -

	 Trade receivables, net	 109,761,196	 98,377,521	 -	 -

	 Other receivables
	 Amounts due from associate
	   - non-interest bearing	 188,630	 -	 188,630	 - 
	 Amounts due from subsidiaries:
	   - interest bearing	 -	 -	 2,225,000	 4,185,000
	   - non-interest bearing	 -	 -	 46,423,465	 30,947,847
	 Deposits                   	 1,793,777  	 1,805,642   	 5,070	 3,970
	 Sundry receivables             	 2,065,502 	 1,140,498 	 77,808   	 14,548

		  4,047,909	 2,946,140	 48,919,973	 35,151,365

		  113,809,105	 101,323,661	 48,919,973	 35,151,365

	 Non-current
	 Other receivables
	 Loan to a joint venture	 -  	 5,000,000          	 -             	 - 
	 Loan to an associate           	 5,000,000	 -	 5,000,000            	  - 
	 Loan to a subsidiary of an associate	 5,000,000	 -	 5,000,000	 - 
	 Amounts due from subsidiaries:
	   - interest bearing	 -	 -	 8,996,750	 13,827,000
	   - non-interest bearing	 -	 -	 -	 4,988,000

		  10,000,000	 5,000,000	 18,996,750	 18,815,000

	 Total trade and other receivables	 123,809,105	 106,323,661	 67,916,723	 53,966,365
	 Add: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 28)	 44,260,249	 27,150,787	 584,260	 273,408

	 Total loans and receivables	 168,069,354	 133,474,448	 68,500,983	 54,239,773
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23. 	R eceivables (Cont’d)

(a)	T rade receivables

	 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 120 days (2013: 30 to 120 days) terms. 
They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

	 The currency exposure profile of trade receivables is as follows:

Group

2014
RM

2013
RM

Ringgit Malaysia 82,498,413 78,284,524

Singapore Dollar 25,083,566 17,698,562

United States Dollar 2,153,622 2,290,136

Others 25,595 104,299

109,761,196 98,377,521

	  	     	  	
	 Ageing analysis of trade receivables

	 The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows:

Group

2014
RM

2013
RM

Neither past due nor impaired 94,707,978 84,346,159

1 to 30 days past due not impaired 10,492,743 9,270,534

31 to 60 days past due not impaired 3,249,496 3,420,049

61 to 90 days past due not impaired 688,501 994,261

More than 90 days past due not impaired 622,478 346,518

15,053,218 14,031,362

Impaired 2,082,051 2,434,607

111,843,247 100,812,128

	 Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired 
	
	 Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relates to customers with good track record with the 

Group. Based on past experience, the Board believes that no allowance for impairment is necessary in respect 
of those balances.

	 None of the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during 
the financial year.
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23. 	R eceivables (Cont’d)

(a)	T rade receivables (Cont’d)

	 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

	 The Group has trade receivables amounting to RM15,053,218 (2013: RM14,031,362) that are past due at the 
reporting date but not impaired.

	 Receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to customers that the Group still deems to be creditworthy. 
Based on the past experience, the Board believes that no allowance of impairment is necessary in respect of 
those balances.

	 The receivables that are past due but not impaired are unsecured in nature.

	 Receivables that are impaired

	 The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the allowance 
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

		   Group 
		C  ollectively	I ndividually
		  impaired	 impaired	T otal
		R  M	R M	R M

	 As at 31st December 2014 

	 Trade receivables - nominal amounts	 -	 2,082,051	 2,082,051
	 Less: Allowance for impairment	 -	 (2,082,051)	 (2,082,051)

		  -	 -	 -

	A s at 31st December 2013

	 Trade receivables - nominal amounts	 357,502	 2,077,105	 2,434,607
	 Less: Allowance for impairment	 (357,502)	 (2,077,105)	 (2,434,607)

		  -	 -	 -

	 Movement in allowance for impairment accounts:

Group

2014
RM

2013
RM

At beginning of financial year 2,434,607 1,899,996
Charge for the year (Note 10) 1,235,253 1,596,335
Written off (473,836) (36,613)
Reversal of impairment losses (Note 10) (1,118,702) (1,036,071)
Exchange differences 4,729 10,960

At end of financial year 2,082,051 2,434,607
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23. 	R eceivables (Cont’d)

(a)	T rade receivables (Cont’d)

	 Receivables that are impaired (Cont’d)

	 Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors that 
are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by 
any collateral or credit enhancements.

(b)	A mounts due from subsidiaries

	 The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable on demand. The weighted average effective 
interest rate for amounts due from subsidiaries which are interest bearing at reporting date is 4.00% (2013: 
4.00%) per annum.

	 Included in the amount due from subsidiaries is an unsecured interest bearing loan of an amount of 
RM5,000,000 granted to ABio Marketing. However, the loan is interest free from the date the loan was extended 
to 28th February 2014. Thereafter, the loan will bear interest at 4.5% per annum. Pursuant to the assignment 
of debt from ABio Marketing to the Company signed in accordance with the Share Swap Arrangement, the said 
loan of RM5,000,000 is deemed fully settled.

(c)	O ther receivables

	 The Group and the Company have no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposures to 
a single debtor or group of debtors.

	 Movement in allowance for impairment accounts:
	

		  Group
		  2014	 2013
		R  M	R M

	 At beginning of financial year	 -	 868,109
	 Written off	 -	 (868,109)

	 At end of financial year	 -	 -

(d)	L oan to a joint venture

	 The loan to a joint venture is an unsecured interest bearing loan. However, there is an interest free period from 
the date the loan was given to 28th February 2014. Thereafter, the loan will bear interest at 4.5% per annum. 
The loan to a joint venture is subordinated to the joint venture’s borrowing from a financial institution until the 
borrowing is fully repaid by 31st March 2018. The loan was assigned by ABio Marketing to the Company on 20th 
November 2014 following the Share Swap Arrangement.

(e)	L oan to an associate

	 During the year, an unsecured interest bearing loan of RM5,000,000 was extended to Straits Apex. Nonetheless, 
a 12 months interest free grace period was granted from the date of release of the said loan until 28th 
September 2015. Thereafter, the loan will bear interest at 4.5% per annum.
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23. 	R eceivables (Cont’d)

(f)	L oan to a subsidiary of an associate

	 The loan of RM5,000,000 as mentioned in Note 23(d) above was assigned by ABio Marketing to the Company 
on 20th November 2014 following the Share Swap Arrangement (Note 20). The interest charged and terms of 
repayment of the said loan remained unchanged.

24.	L ong term investment

		  Group/Company
		  2014	 2013
		R  M	R M

	 Non-current
	   Long term deposit with a licensed bank	 5,520,000 	  5,520,000 

	 The long term deposit with a licensed bank of RM5,520,000 is pledged against a term loan entered into by AO, with 
the maturity period of 5 years effective from 25th May 2013.

	 The long term deposit earns dividends based on the concept of profit-sharing, whereby the profit earned from the 
investment by way of dividends fixed at 7.63% will be shared between the Group/Company and the bank according 
to the predetermined mutually agreed profit sharing ratio established at 50.46 : 49.54 respectively. Dividends are 
received by the Group/Company at 6 months interval.

25. 	I nventories

		  Group
		  2014	 2013
		R  M	R M

	 Cost		
	 Raw materials	 5,372,521	 4,645,606
	 Work-in-progress	 218,991	 324,225
	 Finished goods	 8,406,785	 7,052,444
	 Pharmaceutical products held for resale	 37,699,293	 35,720,037 

		  51,697,590	 47,742,312

	
	 During the financial year, the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales of the Group 

was RM358,232,480 (2013: RM290,905,774). During the financial year, the Group made a reversal of inventories 
previously written down amounting to RM852,615 (2013: RM840,965) when the related inventories were sold above 
their carrying amounts (Note 10).
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26.  	A vailable-for-sale (“AFS”) financial asset

		  2014	 2013
		R  M	R M

	 Group

	C urrent
	 Equity instruments (unquoted), at cost, representing total 
	   available-for-sale financial asset	  -	 3,928,206 

	C ompany

	 Current
	 Equity instruments (unquoted), at cost, representing total
	   available-for-sale financial asset	 -	 3,870,090

	 On 11th February 2014, the Company entered into a Share Sale Agreement with P.T. Maramakmur Selaras, a 
company incorporated in the Republic of Indonesia to dispose its entire equity interest in Maritzberg Investments 
Ltd. for a total consideration of USD1,300,000 approximating RM4,290,000 (based on the exchange rate of USD1: 
RM3.30 as at 31st December 2013). The sale was completed on the same date of execution.

	 Further details on available-for-sale financial asset are disclosed in Note 38.

27.  	 Derivative financial instruments

		  Contract/ 
		N  otional
		  amount	A ssets	L iabilities
		R  M	R M	R M

	 Group 

	 As at 31st December 2014
	N on-hedging derivatives:
	 Forward currency contracts
	   - in respect of sales transactions	 3,598,841	 84,763	 -
	   - in respect of purchases transactions	 (3,598,969)	 89,133	 -

			   173,896	 -

	 As at 31st December 2013
	N on-hedging derivatives:
	 Forward currency contracts
	   - in respect of sales transactions	 2,954,441	 24,596	 -
	   - in respect of purchases transactions	 (1,577,770)	 -	 571

			   24,596	 571
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27.  	 Derivative financial instruments (Cont’d)

	 The Group uses forward currency contracts to manage some of the transaction exposure. These contracts are not 
designated as cash flow or fair value hedges and are entered into for periods consistent with currency transaction 
exposure and fair value changes exposure. Such derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting.

	 Forward currency contracts are used to hedge the Group’s sales and purchase denominated in SGD and USD 
respectively for which firm commitment existed at the reporting date, extending to June 2015 (2013: March 2014) for 
its purchases and May 2015 (2013: May 2014) for its sales.

	 During the financial year, the Group recognised a gain of RM149,871 (2013: RM16,436) and a loss of RM Nil (2013: 
RM8,974) arising from fair value changes of derivative instruments. The fair value changes are attributable to 
changes in foreign exchange spot and forward rates. The method and assumptions applied in determining the fair 
values of derivatives are disclosed in Note 38.

28.	S hort term deposits and Cash and bank balances

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

RM RM RM RM

Short term deposits 26,770,562 16,033,321 11,795,562 5,653,321
Cash and bank balances 29,285,249 16,770,787 584,260 273,408

56,055,811 32,804,108 12,379,822 5,926,729

	 Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are made for 
varying periods of between 1 to 20 days (2013: 1 to 20 days) depending on the immediate cash requirements of the 
Group and the Company, and earn interest rates at the respective short-term deposit rates.

	 Included in the short term deposits is RM11,795,562 (2013: RM5,653,321) placed with money market fund held for 
investment purposes and does not form part of cash and cash equivalents.

	 The weighted average interest rates during the financial year and the average maturities of deposits as at the 
reporting date were as follows:

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013

	 Weighted average interest rate (%)	  2.29    	 2.09    	 3.30    	 3.03

	 Average maturity days	  14    	 11    	 1 	 1

	 For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following as 
at the reporting date:

Group Company
2014 2013 2014 2013

RM RM RM RM
(Restated) (Restated)

Short term deposits 14,975,000 10,380,000 - -
Cash and bank balances 29,285,249 16,770,787 584,260 273,408

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 23) 44,260,249 27,150,787 584,260 273,408
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29. 	A ssets classified as held for sale

	 In the current financial year, the Group has determined its 2 units of retail premises as assets classified as held for 
sale amounting to RM2,479,283 (previously classified as investment properties (Note 17)).

	 As at the date of these financial statements, these disposals are still pending completion as certain terms and 
conditions in the sales and purchase agreement have yet to be fulfilled.

30. 	p ayables

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Trade payables
	 Third parties	 63,017,778    	 53,375,244    	 - 	 -

	 Other payables
	 Amounts due to related parties	 44,000	 24,000	 -	 - 
	 Other payables	 12,289,830	 5,981,653	 24,429	 40,458
	 Other accruals	 10,683,898	 10,515,399	 989,328	 1,140,085
	 Accrual of directors’ fee	 469,750	 478,000	 469,750	 478,000

		  23,487,478	 16,999,052	 1,483,507	 1,658,543

	 Total trade and other payables	 86,505,256	 70,374,296	 1,483,507	 1,658,543
	 Add: Loans and borrowings (Note 31) 	 43,593	 -	 -	 - 

	 Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost	  86,548,849    	 70,374,296    	 1,483,507    	 1,658,543 

	 The currency profile of payables is as follows:

	 Ringgit Malaysia	 55,127,335	 49,332,010	 1,483,507	 1,658,543
	 Singapore Dollar	 28,705,909	 19,003,564	 -	 -
	 United States Dollar	 2,272,298	 1,542,867	 -	 -
	 Euro	 360,614	 449,415	 -	 -
	 Others	 39,100	 46,440	 -	 -

		  86,505,256	 70,374,296	 1,483,507	 1,658,543

(a)	T rade payables

	 Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range from 
30 to 90 days (2013: 30 to 90 days).

(b)	O ther payables

	 These amounts are non-interest bearing. Other payables are normally settled on an average term of 3 months 
(2013: 3 months).

	 Included in the other payables of the Group is the refundable deposits received from the disposal of properties 
of RM441,011 (2013: RM Nil) as disclosed in Note 29.

(c)	A mounts due to related parties

	 These amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand.
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31. 	H ire purchase payable

	 The Group has finance leases for certain items of plant and equipment (Note 16). 

	 The commitment terms under the hire purchase payable are summarised as follows:

Group
2014

RM
2013

RM

Future minimum lease payments: 
Within 1 year after reporting date 12,502 -
More than 1 year but not later than 2 years 12,502 -
More than 2 years but not later than 5 years 25,456 -

50,460 -
Less: Unexpired interest (6,867) -

43,593 -

Less: Amount repayable within 12 months (11,130) -

32,463 -

Analysis of present value of hire purchase payable (Note 30): 
Within 1 year after reporting date 11,130 -
More than 1 year but not later than 2 years 11,130 -
More than 2 years but not later than 5 years 21,333 -

43,593 -

32.	S hare capital

Group/Company

Number of ordinary 
shares of RM1 each

Amount

2014 2013 2014 2013

Units Units RM RM

Authorised

At beginning of financial year 100,000,000 100,000,000 100,000,000 100,000,000

Created during the year 100,000,000 - 100,000,000 -

At end of financial year 200,000,000 100,000,000 200,000,000 100,000,000

Issued and fully paid

At beginning of financial year 93,716,875 93,716,875 93,716,875 93,716,875

Issued during the year 23,429,218 - 23,429,218 -

At end of financial year 117,146,093 93,716,875 117,146,093 93,716,875
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32.	S hare capital (cont’d)

	 During the financial year, the Company increased its:

(a) 	 authorised ordinary share capital from RM100,000,000 to RM200,000,000 through the creation of 100,000,000 
new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each; and

(b)	 issued and paid-up ordinary share capital from RM93,716,875 to RM117,146,093 by way of the issuance of 
23,429,218 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each through a bonus issue of 1 new ordinary share for every 4 existing 
ordinary shares (“Bonus Issue”) via the capitalisation of retained earnings of the Company.

	 The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year ranked pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary 
shares of the Company.

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one 
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual 
assets.

33. 	F oreign currency translation reserve

	 The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation 
currency.

34.	R etained earnings

	 The Company may distribute dividends out of its entire retained earnings as at 31st December 2014 and 31st 
December 2013 under the single-tier system.

35. 	C ommitments

(a)	C apital commitments

	 Capital expenditure as at the reporting date is as follows:

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Approved and contracted for: 
	   Property, plant and equipment	 563,936	 529,405	 -	 -

	 Approved but not contracted for: 
	   Property, plant and equipment	 10,459,636	 11,866,728	 285,786	 555,515

		  11,023,572	 12,396,133	 285,786	 555,515
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35.	C ommitments (cont’d)

(b)	O perating lease commitments - as lessee

	 The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease contracted as at reporting date 
are as follows:

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Not later than one year	 971,288	 1,080,797	 439,440	 330,600
	 Later than one year and not later 
	   than five years	 830,214	 351,402	 -	 -

		  1,801,502	 1,432,199	 439,440	 330,600

36. 	F inancial guarantees

	 The Company has provided corporate guarantees to banks of RM14,644,996 (2013: RM8,530,390) for credit facilities 
granted to subsidiaries.

	 As at the reporting date, no values were ascribed on corporate guarantees provided by the Company to secure bank 
loans and other banking facilities granted to its subsidiary companies as these facilities are either not utilised or 
have been fully settled as at the reporting date.

37.	R elated party transactions

(a)	S ale and purchase of goods and services

	 In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the Company 
had the following transactions with related parties during the financial year:

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Management service fees received from 
	   subsidiary companies	 -	 -	 2,302,368	 2,088,210
	 Interest income received from 
	   subsidiary companies	 -	 -	 647,648	 551,919   
	 Dividend income received from 
	   subsidiary companies	 -    	 -	 34,140,000	 23,490,000
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37.	R elated party transactions (cont’d)

(a)	S ale and purchase of goods and services (Cont’d)

	 In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the Company 
had the following transactions with related parties during the financial year: (Cont’d)

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Interest income on advances to an associate	 188,630	 -	 25,274	 - 
	 Consulting fees paid to a director	 (180,000)	 (180,000)	 (180,000)	 (180,000) 
	 Rental expense paid to subsidiary companies  	 -   	 -    	 (439,440)   	 (330,600)

	 Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at 31st December 2014 
is disclosed in Note 23 and Note 30.

(b)	C ompensation of key management personnel

	 The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the financial year was as 
follows:

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Short-term employment benefits	 7,848,835	 7,606,291	 1,815,546	 1,655,981
	 Defined contribution plans	 898,589	 839,470	 181,086	 138,651
	 Other long-term benefits	 34,092	 32,520	 17,283	 16,491

		  8,781,516	 8,478,281	 2,013,915	 1,811,123

	 Included in the total key management personnel is:

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Director’s remuneration (Note 12)	 2,167,071	 2,005,558	 668,917	 352,480
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38.	F air value of financial instruments

(a)	F air value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value

	 The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value 
hierarchy:

		  Level 1	L evel 2	L evel 3	T otal
	 Group	R M	R M	R M	R M 

	A t 31st December 2014

	F inancial asset:
	 Derivatives - Forward currency contracts	 -	 173,896	 -	 173,896

	 At 31st December 2013

	F inancial asset:
	 Derivatives - Forward currency contracts	 -	 24,596	 -	 24,596

	F inancial liability:
	 Derivatives - Forward currency contracts	 -	 (571)	 -	 (571)

	 Fair value hierarchy

	 The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

•	 Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•	 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and

•	 Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).

	 There have been no transfers between the fair value hierarchy during the financial years ended 2014 and 2013.

(b)	F air value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts 
are not reasonable approximation of fair value

		  2014	 2013
			   Carrying	F air	C arrying	F air 
			   amount	 value	 amount	 value
		N  ote	R M	R M	R M	R M 

	 Group

	 Financial assets:
	 Available-for-sale financial asset	 26	 -	 -	 3,928,206	 *
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38.	F air value of financial instruments (Cont’d)

(b)	F air value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts 
are not reasonable approximation of fair value (Cont’d)

		  2014	 2013
			   Carrying	F air	C arrying	F air 
			   amount	 value	 amount	 value
		N  ote	R M	R M	R M	R M 

	C ompany

	 Financial assets:
	 Available-for-sale financial asset	 26	 -	 -	 3,870,090	 *

*	 Investment in equity instruments carried at cost

	 These equity instruments represent ordinary shares in Maritzberg Investments Ltd. that is not quoted on any 
market and does not have any comparable industry peer that is listed.

(c)   Determination of fair value

	 Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of fair value

	 The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts 
are reasonable approximation of fair value:

		N  ote

	 Receivables (current and non-current)	 23
	 Payables (current)	 30
	 Hire purchase payable (current and non-current)	 31

	 The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, 
either due to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market 
interest rates on or near the reporting date.

	 Quoted equity instruments

	 Fair value is determined directly by reference to their published market bid price at the reporting date.

	 Derivatives

	 Forward currency contracts are valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs. The most 
frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing, using present value calculations. The models 
incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward 
rates.
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38.	F air value of financial instruments (Cont’d)

(c)   Determination of fair value (Cont’d)

	 Amounts due from subsidiaries

	 The fair values of these financial instruments are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at 
market incremental lending rate for similar types of borrowing at the reporting date.

	 Financial guarantees

	 Fair value is determined based on probability weighted discounted cash flow method. The probability has been 
estimated and assigned for the following key assumptions:

-	 The likelihood of the guaranteed party defaulting within the guaranteed period;

-	 The exposure on the portion that is not expected to be recovered due to the guaranteed party’s default; 
and

-	 The estimated loss exposure if the guaranteed party were to default.

39.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies

	 The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of financial 
instruments. The key financial risks include foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

	 The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks. The audit 
committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process.

	 It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, the Group’s policy that no derivatives shall 
be undertaken except for the use as hedging instruments where appropriate and cost-efficient. The Group and the 
Company do not apply hedge accounting.

	 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a)	F oreign currency risk

	 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

	 The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales and purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily RM and Singapore Dollar 
(“SGD”). The foreign currencies in which these transactions are denominated are mainly United States Dollar 
and Euro. Foreign currency exposures in transactional currencies other than functional currencies of the 
operating entities are kept to an acceptable level.

	 Approximately 2% (2013: 3%) of the Group’s sales are denominated in foreign currencies.

	 The Group also holds cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working capital 
purposes. At the reporting date, such foreign currency balances amount to RM2,341,455 (2013: RM2,077,284).
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39.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

(a)	F oreign currency risk (Cont’d)

	 The Group requires all of its operating entities to use forward currency contracts to eliminate the currency 
exposures on any individual transactions in excess of RM50,000 for which payment is anticipated more than 
one month after the Group has entered into a firm commitment for a sale or purchase. The forward currency 
contracts must be in the same currency as the hedged item. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into forward 
contracts until a firm commitment is in place. It is the Group’s policy to negotiate the terms of the hedge 
derivatives to match the terms of the hedged item to maximise hedge effectiveness.

	 The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign operations 
in Singapore. The Group’s net investments in Singapore are not hedged as currency positions in SGD are 
considered to be long-term in nature.

	 The net unhedged financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in their 
functional currencies are as follows:

		  Group
		  2014	 2013
		R  M	R M

	 Receivables
	 United States Dollar	 2,153,622	 2,290,136
	 Singapore Dollar	 919,257	 470,980
	 Others	 25,596	 104,299

		  3,098,475	 2,865,415

	 Payables
	 United States Dollar	 (2,272,298)	 (1,542,867) 

Singapore Dollar	 (1,870,454)	 (1,397,370) 
	 Euro	 (360,614)	 (449,415) 
	 Others	 (39,100)	 (46,440) 

		  (4,542,466)	 (3,436,092)

	 Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

	 The Group’s exposure to currency risk is not significant in the context of the financial statements and accordingly 
the sensitivity analysis is not presented.

(b)	I nterest rate risk

	 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their loan to a joint venture, 
an associate, an associate’s subsidiary and amounts due from subsidiaries. The Group’s policy is to manage 
interest cost using a mix of fixed and floating rate debts.
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39.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

(b)	I nterest rate risk (Cont’d)

	 At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows:

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

	 Fixed rate instruments
	 Financial assets	 5,000,000	 5,000,000	 16,221,750	 18,012,000
	 Financial liabilities	 43,593	 -	 -	 -

	 Floating rate instrument
	 Financial asset	 14,975,000	 10,380,000	 -	 -

	 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

	 The Group does not measure any fixed rate instruments at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a 
change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

	 Sensitivity analysis for floating rate instrument

	 The directors have assessed that there are no reasonably possible change in interest rates that would result 
in a material impact to the financial results of the Group.

(c)   	C redit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from sales made on deferred 
credit terms. For other financial assets (including cash and bank balances and derivatives), the Group and the 
Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

	 The Group seeks to control credit risk by ensuring that sales of products are made to customers who have 
been subjected to stringent credit review, a process of the Group’s credit control policy. Concentrations of 
credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s large number of customers.

	 Exposure to credit risk

	 The Group considers the risk of material loss in the event of non-performance by customers to be unlikely.
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39.	F inancial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

(c)	C redit risk (Cont’d) 

	 Credit risk concentration profile

	 The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the industry sector profile of its trade 
receivables on an ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables at the 
reporting date are as follows:

		  2014	 2013
		R  M	 % of total	R M	 % of total

	 By industry sectors
	 Malaysia Private Sector	 79,935,716 	 72.82%	 74,475,455  	 75.70% 
	 Malaysia Government Sector      	 2,565,183 	 2.34%	 3,767,706	 3.83% 
	 Singapore Private Sector   	 24,164,309        	 22.02%     	 17,850,222              	 18.15% 
	 Export Market	 3,095,988	 2.82%	 2,284,138	 2.32%

		  109,761,196	 100.00%	 98,377,521	 100.00%

	 Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

	 Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note 
23. Deposits with banks, investment securities and derivatives that are neither past due nor impaired are 
placed with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and no 
history of default.

	 Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

	 Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 23.

(d)	L iquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage 
of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial 
assets and liabilities.

	 Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, 
the Group aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

	 Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

	 All financial liabilities of the Group and the Company at the reporting date are repayable within one year except 
the Group’s hire purchase payables as disclosed in Note 31.
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40.  	C apital management

	 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

	 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital 
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the 
financial years ended 31st December 2014 and 31st December 2013.

	 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s 
policy is to keep the gearing ratio to not more than 40%. The Group includes within net debt, loans and borrowings, 
trade and other payables, less short term deposits and cash and bank balances. Capital includes equity attributable 
to the owners of the parent.

	
		  Group	C ompany

			   2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		N  ote	R M	R M	R M	R M

	 Payables	 30	 86,505,256	 70,374,296	 1,483,507	 1,658,543
	 Hire purchase payable	 31	 43,593	 -	 -	 -
	 Less: Short term deposits	 28	 (26,770,562)	 (16,033,321)	 (11,795,562)	 (5,653,321)
	 Less: Cash and bank balances	 28	 (29,285,249)	 (16,770,787)	 (584,260)	 (273,408)

	 Net debt/(cash)		  30,493,038	 37,570,188	 (10,896,315)	 (4,268,186)

	 Equity attributable to the owners of 
	   the parent, representing total capital	 	 259,935,229	 234,830,718	 148,921,619	 124,757,042

	 Capital and net debt		  290,428,267	 272,400,906	 138,025,304	 120,488,856

	 Gearing ratio		  10%	 14%	 -	 -

41.  	S egment information

	 For management purposes, the Group is organised into three main business units based on their products, and has 
three reportable operating segments as follows:

(i)	 Manufacturing and marketing of pharmaceutical products;

(ii)	 Wholesale and distribution of pharmaceutical and healthcare products; and

(iii)	 Corporate comprising investments in retail pharmacy business and properties and the provision of management 
services.

	 Except as indicated above, no operating segment has been aggregated to form the above reportable operating 
segments.

	 Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating 
profit or loss which, in certain respects as explained in the table below, is measured differently from operating profit 
or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Group financing (including finance costs) and income taxes are 
managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.
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41. 	S egment information (Cont’d)

A	 Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

B	 Other material non-cash (gain)/expenses consist of the following items as presented in the respective notes to 
the financial statements:

2014
RM

2013
RM

Impairment loss on financial assets, net of reversals 116,551 560,264
Reversal of inventories written down (852,615) (840,965)
Inventories written off 197,583 191,409
Inventories written down 314,638 696,941
Property, plant and equipment written off 2,024 12,747
Intangible asset written off 1 -
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange (163,106) (324,486)
Fair value changes on derivatives instruments (149,871) (7,462)

(534,795) 288,448

C	 Unallocated corporate expense of RM2,121,336 (2013: RM1,898,075) was deducted from segment profit to arrive 
at “Profit before tax from continuing operations” presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income.

D	 Additions to non-current assets consist of:

2014 2013
RM RM

Property, plant and equipment 5,895,219 36,851,118
Investment properties - 37,102
Intangible assets 90,544 36,000

5,985,763 36,924,220

E	 The following items were added to segment assets in arriving at total assets reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position:

2014
RM

2013
RM

Deferred tax assets 168,000 376,000
Tax recoverable 408,657 482,049
Property, plant and equipment (6,565,990) (5,995,778)

(5,989,333) (5,137,729)



Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31st December 2014 (Cont’d)

134	 Apex healthcare berhad (473108-T)

41. 	S egment information (Cont’d) 

F	 The following items were added to segment liabilities in arriving at total liabilities reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position:

2014
RM

2013
RM

Current tax payable 2,236,343 1,770,785
Deferred tax liabilities 5,358,995 5,752,443

7,595,338 7,523,228

	 Geographical information

	 Revenue and non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, investment in an associate, 
investment in a joint venture, post-employment benefit assets, and rights arising from insurance contracts 
information based on the geographical location of customers and assets respectively are as follows:

		R  evenue	N on-current assets
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M	R M	R M	R M

Malaysia	 353,676,511	 325,556,859	 69,532,489	 74,140,408
Singapore	 145,560,907	 92,893,991	 37,098,908	 37,299,601

		  499,237,418	 418,450,850	 106,631,397	 111,440,009

	 Non-current assets information presented above consists of the following items as presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position:

2014
RM

2013
RM

Property, plant and equipment 99,554,525 106,921,010
Investment properties 5,854,699 3,328,599
Intangible assets 1,222,173 1,190,400

106,631,397 111,440,009
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42. 	R eclassification

	 Following the issuance of Financial Reporting Standards Implementation Committee Consensus 22 “Classification 
of Fixed Deposits and Similar Instruments as Cash and Cash Equivalents”, the Group has revisited the classification 
of its investment in money market fund as cash and equivalents and resulting therefrom, the comparative cash and 
cash equivalents have been reclassified to conform with current year’s presentation.

		  As previously	R e-
		  reported	 classification	A s restated
		R  M	R M	R M

	 Statements of cash flows

	 Group

	 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st January 2014	 32,804,108	 (5,653,321)	 27,150,787

	 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st January 2013	 34,674,597	 (7,325,370)	 27,349,227

	 Company

	 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st January 2014	 5,926,729	 (5,653,321)	 273,408

	 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1st January 2013	 10,246,621	 (7,325,370)	 2,921,251
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43. 	S upplementary information

	 The breakdown of the retained profits of the Group and of the Company as at 31st December 2014 into realised and 
unrealised profits is presented in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and 
Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad.

		  Group	C ompany
		  2014	 2013	 2014	 2013
		R  M’000	R M’000	R M’000	R M’000

Total retained profits of the Company 
  and its subsidiaries:
    Realised	 159,516	 159,851	 31,776	 31,040
    Unrealised	 (2,597)	 (3,204)	 -	 -

		  156,919	 156,647 	 31,776	 31,040

Total share of results of a joint venture:
  Realised	 (694)	 (777)	 -	 -

Total share of results of an associate:				  
  Realised	 835	 -	 -	 -

		  157,060	 155,870	 31,776	 31,040

Less: Consolidation adjustments	 (18,452)	 (17,974)	 -	 -

Total retained profits	 138,608	 137,896	 31,776	 31,040
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LIST OF PROPERTIES
AT 31st DECEMBER 2014

Registered Owner &
Address 

 Land area 
 sq.metres 

Built-up
area

sq.metres
Existing use/
Description

Tenure/
(Expiry date)

Age of 
building

Net 
Carrying
Amount

RM
Date of last
revaluation

APEX PHARMACY CORPORATE SDN BHD

1 Unit No F120  -   158 Leased / 1 parcel of Freehold / 782,901 Revalued 

First Floor, Holiday Plaza commercial space 30 years old Dec 2014

Jalan Dato’ Sulaiman located on the 1st

Taman Century floor of Holiday Plaza

Johor Bahru

Johor Darul Takzim

2 No 21 Jalan Permas Jaya 9/12  279 369 1 1/2 - storey terraced Freehold 355,600 Revalued 

Bandar Baru Permas Jaya warehouse cum office 15 years old Dec 2014

Masai Johor

3 No 83 Jalan Munshi Abdullah  130 330 Pharmacy outlet / Freehold / 444,000 Revalued 

Melaka 3 - storey terraced 52 years old Dec 2011

shop office

4 No 134, 134/1, 134/2 and 134/3  137 524 Warehouse cum Leasehold / 678,863 Revalued 

Kompleks Perniagaan office / 4 1/2 - storey (exp. 2102) Dec 2011

Munshi Abdullah shop office 24 years old

Jalan Munshi Abdullah

Melaka

5 Unit No H-G-33 (D) 98 98 Warehouse / Leasehold / 273,558 Revalued 

AH - 106 Ground Floor (exp. 2058) Dec 2011

Batu Kawah New Township Block H 14 years old

Jalan Batu Kawa Kuching Commercial (D) 

Sarawak Plot 14

6 Unit No H-G-33A (F1)  127 127 Warehouse cum office Leasehold / 372,100 Revalued 

AH - 107 / Ground Floor (exp. 2058) Dec 2011

Batu Kawah New Township Block H 14 years old

Jalan Batu Kawa Kuching Commercial (D)

Sarawak Plot 14
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Registered Owner &
Address 

 Land area 
 sq.metres 

Built-up
area

sq.metres
Existing use/
Description

Tenure/
(Expiry date)

Age of 
building

Net 
Carrying
Amount

RM
Date of last
revaluation

XEPA-SOUL PATTINSON (MALAYSIA) SDN BHD

7 No 1-5 Jalan TTC 1  38,966 17,345 Factory Complex / Leasehold / 23,086,680 Revalued 

Cheng Industrial Estate 1 1/2 - storey (exp. 2096) Dec 2009

Melaka factory building 22 years old

APEX PHARMACY MARKETING SDN BHD

8 No 2 Jalan SS 13/5  10,116 9,548 Industrial Land / Freehold 15,275,975 Revalued 

Subang Jaya Corporate office and 10 years old Dec 2009

Selangor Darul Ehsan warehouse

APEX PHARMA MARKETING PTE LTD

9 49 Tannery Lane  -   700 Industrial Land / Freehold 4,716,199 Revalued 

#04-01 & 04-07 Warehouse 29 years old Dec 2014

Noble Warehouse 

Singapore

10 4 Loyang Way 1 3,673 4,879 Industrial warehouse / Leasehold /  29,215,129 Revalued 

Singapore  3 - storey detached (exp. 2052) Dec 2014

buidling 18 years old 

LIST OF PROPERTIES
AT 31st DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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Analysis of shareholdings
AT 31st march 2015

Authorised Share Capital	 :	 RM200,000,000
Issued and Paid-Up Capital	 :	 RM117,146,093
Class of Shares	 :	 Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each
Voting Right	 :	 One (1) vote per Ordinary Share
Number of Shareholders	 :	 1,580

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
No. of 

Shareholders %
No. of 

Shares %

Less than 100 81 5.13 4,195 0.00
100 to 1,000 107 6.77 58,220 0.05
1,001 to 10,000 1,054 66.71 3,896,767 3.33
10,001 to 100,000 281 17.78 7,563,191 6.45
100,001 – less than 5% of issued shares 54 3.42 22,722,145 19.40
5% and above issued shares 3 0.19 82,901,575 70.77

Total 1,580 100.00 117,146,093 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

Names of Substantial Shareholders

No. of Shares Held
Direct 

Interest   % 
Indirect 
Interest   % 

Apex Pharmacy Holdings Sdn Bhd 47,438,855 40.50 - -
Washington H Soul Pattinson and Company Limited 35,462,720 30.27 - -
Xepa Holdings Sdn Bhd 462,250 0.39 47,438,855(1) 40.50
Apex Holdings (Pte) Ltd 318,750 0.27 47,901,105(1) 40.89
Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng 320,312 0.27 48,266,730(4) 41.20
Dr Kee Kirk Chin 937,500(2) 0.80 48,219,855(1) 41.16
Xepa Holdings Pte Ltd - - 48,219,855(1) 41.16
Yang Liew Fang - - 48,219,855(1) 41.16
Kee Kirk Chuen 46,875(3) 0.04 48,219,855(1) 41.16
Dr Kee Loo - - 48,219,855(1) 41.16
United Engineers Limited - - 47,438,855(1) 40.50
UE UMC Pte Ltd - - 47,438,855(1) 40.50
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited - - 47,438,855(1) 40.50
Great Eastern Holdings Limited - - 47,438,855(1) 40.50

Notes: 	
1	 Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.
2	 Held through nominee company.
3	 Partly held through nominee company.
4	 Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A and Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act, 1965.



140	 Apex healthcare berhad (473108-T)

Analysis of shareholdings
AT 31st march 2015 (Cont’d)

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

Name of Directors

No. of Shares Held
Direct 

Interest    %
Indirect 
Interest %

Dr Kee Kirk Chin 937,500(2) 0.80 48,219,855(3) 41.16
Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng 320,312 0.27 48,266,730 (1) 41.20
Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong 23,437 0.02 - -
Leong Khai Cheong 148,437 0.13 - -
Robert Dobson Millner 23,437 0.02 - -
Heng Su-Ling Mae - - - -
Tong Yew Sum - - - -

Notes: 	
1	 Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A and Section 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act, 1965.
2	 Held through nominee company.
3	 Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

TOP THIRTY (30) SHAREHOLDERS

No. Names No. of Shares %

1. APEX PHARMACY HOLDINGS SENDIRIAN BERHAD 47,438,855 40.50

2. WASHINGTON H.SOUL PATTINSON AND COMPANY LIMITED 18,560,937 15.84

3. WASHINGTON H.SOUL PATTINSON AND COMPANY LIMITED 16,901,783 14.43

4. HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
KBL EURO PB FOR HALLEY SICAV - HALLEY ASIAN PROSPERITY

2,031,250 1.73

5. LIM TEH REALTY SDN BERHAD 1,625,000 1.39

6. MD ALI BIN MD DEWAL 1,453,062 1.24

7. LIEW YOON YEE 1,313,000 1.12

8. HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
EXEMPT AN FOR SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB (SWEDISH CLIENTS)

1,140,550 0.97

9. MAYBANK NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
DBS BANK FOR KEE KIRK CHIN (211434)

937,500 0.80

10. ROSINA BINTI ALADAD KHAN 898,437 0.77

11. TAN YAN MENG WARREN 878,906 0.75

12. LIEW YOON YEE 800,000 0.68

13. CARTABAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
RHB TRUSTEES BERHAD FOR MANULIFE INVESTMENT SHARIAH PROGRESSFUND

627,125 0.54

14. TEOH CHOON NEO @ IVY TEOH CHOON NEO 625,000 0.53

15. CHAN HENG KOON 612,000 0.52

16. SINGAM A/L KUMARASAMY 514,500 0.44
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Analysis of shareholdings
AT 31st march 2015 (Cont’d)

TOP THIRTY (30) SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

No. Names No. of Shares %

17. HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
EXEMPT AN FOR SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB (AIF SWEDISH RES)

501,600 0.43

18. YEO LEE HEE 475,000 0.41

19. XEPA HOLDINGS SDN BHD 462,250 0.39

20. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD (F TEMPLETON)

439,875 0.38

21. OH SIEW HEONG 375,000 0.32

22. ONG WOAN HUA 365,000 0.31

23. AHMAD KAMAL BIN MD. ALIF 328,125 0.28

24. KEE TAH PENG @ HEE TECK PENG 320,312 0.27

25. APEX HOLDINGS (PTE) LTD 318,750 0.27

26. MARGARET LIM 312,500 0.27

27. LEONG WAI KUEN 303,250 0.26

28. LIM KHUAN ENG 270,000 0.23

29. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) (HWNG SML CAP FD)

264,000 0.23

30. UOBM NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
UOB ASSET MANAGEMENT (MALAYSIA) BERHAD FOR GIBRALTAR BSN AGGRESSIVE 
FUND

250,000 0.21



142	 Apex healthcare berhad (473108-T)

notice of sixteenth
annual general meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Sixteenth Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Apex Healthcare Berhad (“AHB”) will 
be held at Bendahara Room 1, 2nd Floor, Ramada Plaza Melaka, Jalan Bendahara, 75100 Melaka on Wednesday, 20th 
May 2015 at 10.00 a.m. for the following purposes:-

As Ordinary Business

1. To receive the Statutory Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31st December 
2014 together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon.

(please refer to 
explanatory Note 1)

 
2. To approve a final single-tier dividend of 6 sen per share for the financial year ended 31st 

December 2014.
Resolution 1

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 31st December 
2014.

Resolution 2

4. To appoint Datuk Noharuddin Bin Mohd Nordin @ Harun as Independent Non-Executive 
Director of the Company.

Resolution 3

5. To re-elect Mr Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong who retires in accordance with Article 89 
of the Company’s Articles of Association.

Resolution 4

6. To re-elect Ms Heng Su-Ling Mae who retires in accordance with Article 89 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association.

Resolution 5

7. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration.

Resolution 6

As Special Business

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary resolutions, with or without 
modifications:

8. RE-APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTOR OVER SEVENTY (70) YEARS OF AGE

“THAT Mr Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng, who retires pursuant to Section 129(6) of the 
Companies Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed as Director of the Company to hold 
office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

Resolution 7

9. RE-APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTOR OVER SEVENTY (70) YEARS OF AGE

“THAT Mr Tong Yew Sum, who retires pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 
1965, be and is hereby re-appointed as Director of the Company to hold office until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

Resolution 8

10. AUTHORITY FOR MR LEONG KHAI CHEONG TO CONTINUE OFFICE AS INDEPENDENT 
DIRECTOR

“THAT authority be and is hereby given for Mr Leong Khai Cheong who has served as an 
Independent Director of the Company for a cumulative term of more than nine years, to 
continue to act as an Independent Director of the Company until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting in accordance with Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance 
2012 (“MCCG 2012”).”

Resolution 9
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notice of sixteenth
annual general meeting

(cont’d)

11. AUTHORITY UNDER SECTION 132D OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965 FOR THE DIRECTORS 
TO ISSUE SHARES

“THAT pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965, and subject to the approvals 
of the relevant governmental and/or regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are 
hereby empowered to issue new shares in the Company at any time, at such price, 
upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such person or persons 
whomsoever as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit, provided that the 
aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to this resolution in any one financial year 
does not exceed 10% of the total issued share capital of the Company for the time being 
AND THAT the Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the approval from Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares so 
issued AND THAT such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company.”

Resolution 10

NOTICE OF DIVIDEND ENTITLEMENT AND PAYMENT

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a final single-tier dividend of 6 sen per share for the financial year ended 31st 
December 2014, if approved, will be paid on 17th June 2015. The entitlement date for the payment is 3rd June 2015.

A depositor shall qualify for entitlement only in respect of:

a)	 Shares transferred into the Depositor’s Securities Accounts before 4.00 p.m. on 3rd June 2015 in respect of 
transfer; and

b)	 Shares bought on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on a cum entitlement basis according to the Rules of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD 

CHIEW WOON WUI (MIA 20586)
CHAN YOKE PENG (MAICSA 7053966) 
Secretaries

Melaka
28th April 2015
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Notes:

(i)	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Company’s Record of Depositors 
as at 13th May 2015 shall be eligible to attend, speak and vote at this meeting or appoint proxy(ies) to attend and 
vote on his/her behalf.

(ii)	 A member of the Company who is entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint not more than 
two (2) proxies, and in the case of a corporation, a duly authorised representative to attend and vote in its stead.

(iii)	 A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company, an advocate, an approved company auditor or a person 
approved by the Registrar (the provisions of Section 149(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply). Where a 
member appoints more than one (1) proxy, he shall specify the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented 
by each proxy.

(iv)	 Where a member of the company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the company 
for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of 
proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

(v)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly 
authorised in writing or if the appointor is a corporation, either under its common seal or under the hand of an 
officer or attorney duly authorised in writing.

(vi)	 The original instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company situated at 
1-5 Jalan TTC 1, Cheng Industrial Estate, 75250 Melaka, Malaysia, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the 
time set for holding this meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

Explanatory Notes 

1.	 The Audited Financial Statements is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 169(1) of the Companies 
Act, 1965 (“the Act”) does not require a formal approval of the shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. 
Hence, this item on the Agenda is not put forward for voting.

2.	R esolution 3

	 This proposed resolution if passed, Datuk Noharuddin Bin Mohd Nordin @ Harun, will be appointed as Independent 
Non-Executive Director of the Company. His details are set out in the Statement Accompanying the Notice of 
Annual General Meeting on page 146 of this Annual Report.

3.	R esolution 7

	 This proposed resolution is in accordance with Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965 and if passed, Mr Kee 
Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng, who is over seventy (70) years of age, will be re-appointed as Director of the Company 
and will hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

4.	R esolution 8

	 This proposed resolution is in accordance with Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965 and if passed, Mr Tong 
Yew Sum, who is over seventy (70) years of age, will be re-appointed as Director of the Company and will hold 
office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

notice of sixteenth
annual general meeting
(cont’d)
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5.	R esolution 9

	 Mr Leong Khai Cheong was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 18th 
February 2000 and has reached the nine (9) years term limit prescribed by the MCCG 2012. In accordance with 
the MCCG 2012, the Board of Directors of the Company, after having assessed the independence of Mr Leong, 
considers him to be independent based on amongst others, the following justifications and recommends that Mr 
Leong be retained as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company:-

(i)	 He has confirmed and declared that he is an Independent Director as defined under Paragraph 1.01 of the 
Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities;

(ii)	 He does not have any conflict of interest with the Company and has not been entering/is not expected to 
enter into contract(s) especially material contract(s) with the Company and/or its subsidiary companies;

(iii)	 He is currently not sitting on the board of any other public and/or private companies having the same nature 
of business as that of the Company and its subsidiary companies; and

(iv)	 The Board of Directors of the Company is of the opinion that Mr Leong is an important Independent Non-
Executive Director in view of his many years on the Board with incumbent knowledge of the Company and the 
Group’s activities and corporate history and has provided invaluable contributions to the Board in his role as 
an Independent Non-Executive Director.

6.	R esolution 10

	 This proposed resolution, if passed, will renew the authority given to the Directors of the Company to issue and 
allot new shares in the Company at any time, to such person or persons, upon such terms and conditions and for 
such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit (“General Mandate”), provided that the 
number of shares issued pursuant to this General Mandate, when aggregated with the nominal value of any such 
shares issued during the preceding twelve (12) months, does not exceed 10% of the total issued share capital of 
the Company at the time of issue. This renewed General Mandate, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, 
will expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.

	 The General Mandate procured and approved in the preceding year 2014 which was not exercised by the Company 
during the year, will expire at the forthcoming Sixteenth AGM of the Company. 

	 With this renewed General Mandate, the Company will be able to raise funds expeditiously for the purpose of 
funding future investment, working capital and/or acquisition(s) without having to convene a general meeting to 
seek shareholders’ approval when such opportunities or needs arise.

PERSONAL DATA POLICY

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and 
disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and 
administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General 
Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes 
and other documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and in order for the 
Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, 
the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/
or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such 
proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company 
in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of 
warranty.

notice of sixteenth
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statement accompanying
notice of annual general meeting

1.	 Details of Datuk Noharuddin Bin Nordin @ Harun, who is nominated for appointment as Independent Director 
of the Company at the Sixteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company are as follows:

Name : Datuk Noharuddin Bin Nordin @ Harun

Age : 59

Nationality : Malaysian

Qualification : Chartered Institute of Transport (UK) 1978

Diploma in Public Administration, National Institute of Public Administration, 
Malaysia, 1986
(Prime Minister’s Award for Best Trainee)

Diploma in Trade Policy 
GATT, Geneva, Switzerland, 1988

Master of Business Administration 
University of Birmingham, UK 1992

Advance Management Program 
Harvard Business School, Boston, USA, 2006

Leaders in Governance Program
School of Public Policy, Singapore, 2012

Position in Board : Independent Non-Executive Director

Working experience : 1978 – 1985, Assistant Director of Road Transport Department, Malaysia

1986 – 1993, Assistant Director of Ministry of International Trade and Industry 
(MITI), Malaysia

1994 – 2000, Trade Commissioner of Malaysia Trade Commission, New York, USA

2000 – 2003, Director of Americas / Europe Division, Malaysia External Trade 
Development Corporation (MATRADE)

2003 – 2006, Deputy Chief Executive of MATRADE

2006 – August 2011, Chief Executive Officer of MATRADE

August 2011 – February 2014, Chief Executive Officer of Malaysian Investment 
Development Authority (MIDA)
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statement accompanying
notice of annual general meeting

(cont’d)

Other directorship in 
public companies

: Independent Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Malaysia Venture 
Capital Management Berhad

Kulim Technology Park Corporation Sdn Bhd

Any interest in Securities 
of the Company and its 
subsidiaries

: Nil

Family relationship with 
any Director or major 
shareholders of the 
Company

: None

Conflict of Interest with 
the Company

: None

List of Conviction for 
Offenses within the Past 
Ten (10) Years other than 
traffic offences

: None

2.	 Directors who are standing for re-election

	 The Directors standing for re-election at the Sixteenth Annual General Meeting are as follows:

(a) Mr Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong Retiring pursuant to Article 89 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association

(b) Ms Heng Su-Ling Mae Retiring pursuant to Article 89 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association

(c) Mr Kee Tah Peng @  Hee Teck Peng Retiring pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965

(d) Mr Tong Yew Sum Retiring pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965

3.	F urther details of Directors who are standing for re-election 

(a)	 Details of the above Directors who are standing for re-election are set out in the Directors’ Profile appearing 
on pages 23 to 26 of this Annual Report. 

(b)	 The direct and indirect shareholdings of the above Directors who are standing for re-election are set out in 
the Analysis of Shareholdings on page 140 of this Annual Report. 

4.	 Details of Attendance of Directors at Board Meetings

	 Four (4) Board meetings were held during the financial year ended 31st December 2014. Details of the attendance 
of each Director are set out in the Report of the Nomination Committee appearing on page 46 of this Annual 
Report.

5.	 Place, Date and Time of Sixteenth Annual General Meeting

	 The Sixteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be convened and held at Bendahara Room 1, 2nd 
Floor, Ramada Plaza Melaka, Jalan Bendahara, 75100 Melaka on Wednesday, 20th May 2015 at 10.00 a.m.
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form of
proxy

I/We,  NRIC/Company No. 
	 (Full name in block letters)

of 
(Full Address)

being a member/members of APEX HEALTHCARE BERHAD,  hereby appoint 

 of 
	 (Full name in block letters)	 (Full Address)

or failing him/her,  of 
	 (Full name in block letters)	 (Full Address)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Sixteenth Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be held at Bendahara Room 1, 2nd Floor, Ramada Plaza Melaka, Jalan Bendahara, 75100 
Melaka on Wednesday, 20th May 2015 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof on the following resolutions referred to 
in the Notice of Sixteenth Annual General Meeting.

My/Our proxy is to vote as indicated below:-

RESOLUTIONS *FOR *AGAINST 
1.	 To approve a final single-tier dividend of 6 sen per share for the financial year ended 31st 

December 2014.

2.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 31st December 2014.

3.	 To appoint Datuk Noharuddin Bin Mohd Nordin @ Harun as Independent Non-Executive Director 
of the Company.

4.	 To re-elect Mr Jackson Chevalier Yap-Kit-Siong as Director of the Company.

5.	 To re-elect Ms Heng Su-Ling Mae as Director of the Company.

6.	 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors 
to fix their remuneration.

7.	 To re-appoint Mr Kee Tah Peng @ Hee Teck Peng who retires under Section 129(6) of the 
Companies Act, 1965 to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

8.	 To re-appoint Mr Tong Yew Sum who retires under Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965 to 
hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

9.	 To retain Mr Leong Khai Cheong as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.

10.	 To authorise Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.

*Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces on how you wish your vote to be cast. In the absence of specific 
direction, your proxy will vote or abstain as he/she thinks fit.

Dated this  day of  2015	
	 Signature of Member(s) or Common Seal

APEX HEALTHCARE BERHAD (473108-T)
 (Incorporated in Malaysia)

No. of  Shares held 

CDS Account No. 

Notes:

(i)	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names 
appear in the Company’s Record of Depositors as at 13th May 
2015 shall be eligible to attend, speak and vote at this meeting or 
appoint proxy(ies) to attend and vote on his/her behalf.

(ii)	 A member of the Company who is entitled to attend and vote at 
this meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies, 
and in the case of a corporation, a duly authorised representative 
to attend and vote in its stead.

(iii)	 A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company, an 
advocate, an approved company auditor or a person approved by 
the Registrar (the provisions of Section 149(1) of the Companies 
Act, 1965 shall not apply). Where a member appoints more than 
one (1) proxy, he shall specify the proportions of his shareholdings 
to be represented by each proxy.

(iv)	 Where a member of the company is an exempt authorised 
nominee which holds ordinary shares in the company for multiple 
beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), 
there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt 
authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus 
account it holds.

(v)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand 
of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if the 
appointor is a corporation, either under its common seal or under 
the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised in writing.

(vi)	 The original instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the 
Registered Office of the Company situated at 1-5 Jalan TTC 1, Cheng 
Industrial Estate, 75250 Melaka, Malaysia, not less than forty-eight 
(48) hours before the time set for holding this meeting or at any 
adjournment thereof.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and /or 
representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data 
privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 28th 
April 2015.
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Branch and Address Tel Number Fax No Contact Person
Subang Jaya Head Office
No 2, Jalan SS 13/5
47500 Subang Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan

03-5629 3688
03-5629 3686

03-5636 8200
03-5636 8025
03-5636 8110
03-5629 3777

Mr Tan Hing Tai (Executive Director)
Mr Lau Ah Tee (Director - Sales & Marketing)
Mr Loo Kok Yuan (GM - Distribution)
Ms Ang Girl Bee (Asst GM - Consumer Healthcare / Distribution)
Ms Tan Pei Leng (Asst GM - Wholesale)
Ms Lee Siew Bee (F&A Manager)
Mr Ling Chin Huat (Senior ICT Manager)
Ms Wong Mei Ling (Training Manager - Pharma)
Ms Liew Sheau Seen (Product Manager - Pharma)
Mr Calvin Tan Chun Seong (Brand Manager - Consumer Healthcare)
Mr Lim Soon Chow (Product Manager - Consumer Healthcare)
Ms Yoong Siew Li (Wholesale Manager)
Ms Beh Gim Sang (Regulatory Affairs Manager - Sales & Marketing)
Mr Chong Wing Hoa (Assistant Operations Manager - PJW)

Ipoh
2-4, Medan Bendahara 2
Medan Bendahara
31650 Ipoh
Perak Darul Ridzuan 

05-254 5833
05-253 6307
05-241 5613

05-253 2213 Mr Wong Teck Onn (Branch Manager)

Melaka
134/1, Kompleks Perniagaan
Munshi Abdullah
Jalan Munshi Abdullah
75100 Melaka

06-284 7350
06-282 8695
06-282 2168

06-283 7704 Mr Low Chor Ling (Branch Manager)

Seremban (Sales Office)
11, Tingkat 1
Jalan Dato Sheikh Ahmad
70000 Seremban
N. Sembilan Darul Khusus

06-764 2810 06-767 0327 Ms Tan Pei Leng (Asst GM - Wholesale)

Johor
11, Jalan Mutiara 5
Taman Perindustrian Plentong
81100 Johor Bahru
Johor

07-353 5534 07-353 4816 Ms Melissa Hong Chui Ean (Pharmacist)

Kota Bahru
PT 533/A & 534/A, 
Taman Murni
Jalan Pengkalan Chepa
16100 Kota Bahru
Kelantan

09-774 3666 09-774 9428 Ms Lim Gim Hoon (Senior Branch Manager)

Penang
No 10, Lintang Beringin 1
Off Jalan Permatang 
Damar Laut
11960 Bayan Lepas
Penang

04-626 2739 04-626 3392 Ms Kew Miaw Fung (Branch Manager)

Sarawak
AH 106-107, Batu Kawah 
New Township
Jalan Batu Kawa
93250 Kuching
Sarawak

082-451 119
082-459 398

082-578 418 Ms Hui Lai Fong (Branch Manager)

Sabah
Lot 24, Karamunsing 
Warehouse
Jalan Sembulan Lama
Karamunsing
88000 Kota Kinabalu
Sabah

088-270 100
088-270 200

088-270 300 Ms Chan Jit Ngo (Branch Manager)

Singapore
4, Loyang Way 1
Singapore 508708

65-6741 3803 65-6749 3839 Ms Loh Pei Juin (General Manager)

directory of distribution depots
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